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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                          Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

	LINDA S. ROCKSTAD, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Applicant,

                                                   v. 

CHUGACH EARECKSON SUPPORT 

SERVICES,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE CO.,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                     Defendants.
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200320305
AWCB Decision No.  09-0195
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on  December 16, 2009


On September 16 and 17, 2009, in Anchorage, Alaska, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board) heard the employee’s claim for temporary total disability (TTD) benefits from August 4, 2003 through January 26, 2009, medical and transportation costs, permanent partial impairment (PPI), unfair and frivolous controversion, penalty, interest and costs. The employee (hereafter Claimant) was represented by non-attorney representative Mary Thoeni.  Attorney Robert Bredesen represented the employer and insurer (collectively, Employer or CESS).
   

At the start of the hearing Claimant raised a Smallwood objection
 to one sentence in the August 4, 2003, chart note from Dana Campbell, ANP, a medical provider, which reads: “Pt has h/o mild intermit controlled R thumb & wrist pain x 10 yr.”  Claimant argued this sentence should be excluded from evidence for Employer’s failure to produce Ms. Campbell for cross-examination.  The matter was taken under advisement, with the parties instructed to present their cases as though the objectionable sentence was admitted.  Claimant’s objection to admission of the quoted sentence from the August 4, 2003, chart note is OVERRULED for the reasons previously iterated in Rockstad v. Chugach Eareckson Support Services, AWCB Decision No. 08-0028 (February 22, 2008) at 49-52.  The Shemya Clinic chart note in its entirety is admissible under Alaska Rule of Evidence 803(4) as an exception to the hearsay rule for statements made for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment.

Claimant appeared and testified on her own behalf.   Stephen Fuller, MD, appeared and testified on behalf of Employer.  S.  David Glass, MD, appeared telephonically for Employer.  Eighteen witnesses appeared by deposition.  These included treating physicians Charles Kase, MD; Michael McNamara, MD; Joella Beard, MD; George Siegfried, MD; Rafael Prieto, MD; and Doug Vermillion, MD.  Examining physicians appearing by deposition included David Holladay, MD; SIME physicians Christopher Wilson, MD and Walter Ling, MD; and EME physician Gerald Reimer, MD.  Lay witnesses appearing on Claimant’s behalf by deposition were Claimant by video-deposition, Sharry Christianson, Mary McCully and William May. Surveillance videographers Dennis Johnson, Wayne Willott, Scott Coronado and Michael Rush also testified by deposition.

The record was held open at the close of the hearing to allow the panel members to review the deposition testimony.  The record closed when the panel met to deliberate on October 1, 2009.

ISSUES

Claimant contends that in the course and scope of her employment she sustained injuries to her right wrist and elbow from repetitive stress and poor ergonomics at her work station.  She asserts she underwent two surgeries which did not resolve the problems, and remained disabled until she attained medically stability on January 26, 2009, following successful surgery performed by Dr. Doug Vermillion. Claimant contends her employment, or complications from medical procedures necessitated and undertaken as a result of her employment, caused the following conditions: DeQuervain’s (DQ) tenosynovitis, right wrist; right lateral epicondylitis; right medial epicondylitis; ganglion cyst, right wrist; Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CPRS); neuroma; neuritis; and injury-related mood disorder.  

Employer contends Claimant’s DQ tenosynovitis, right wrist, was a temporary aggravation of a pre-existing condition which resolved by September 10, 2003.
  Employer further asserts there is either no causal connection to her employment, or no persuasive medical evidence for Claimant’s assertion she suffered right lateral epicondylitis; right medial epicondylitis; ganglion cyst, right wrist; CPRS; neuroma; neuritis; or injury-related mood disorder.  Employer argues the medical opinions supporting Claimant’s position are not reliable, as they are based on patient reporting, and Claimant is untruthful.  Employer alleges Claimant is a malingerer motivated by secondary gain.

1.
Was Claimant’s employment a substantial factor in causing DQ tenosynovitis, right wrist?  If so, when did she attain medical stability?

2.
Was Claimant’s employment a substantial factor in causing right lateral epicondylitis?  If so, when did she attain medical stability?

3.
Was Claimant’s employment a substantial factor in causing right medial epicondylitis?  If so, when did she attain medical stability?

4.
Was Claimant’s employment a substantial factor in causing Claimant to develop a ganglion cyst?  If so, when did she attain medical stability?

5.
Was Claimant’s employment a substantial factor in causing CRPS; neuroma; or neuritis?  If so, when did she attain medical stability?

6.
Was Claimant’s employment a substantial factor in causing Claimant to develop an injury-related mood disorder?  If so, when did she attain medical stability? 

7.
Has Claimant suffered a PPI from any work-related condition?
8.
What, if any, medical and transportation costs are due?

9.
What, if any, TTD benefits are due?

10.
Were any controversions filed unfairly or frivolously?

11.
Are penalties, interest or costs due?

FINDINGS OF FACT

Evaluation of the record as a whole establishes the following facts by a preponderance of the evidence:

Relevant Medical History Prior to Employment with CESS.

1.
While employed as a customer service representative with Alaska Cleaners in 1998, Claimant developed left wrist pain.  She sought treatment from Charles Kase, MD, after Dr. Harry Cole would not provide her with an “off work” note.
  Dr. Kase diagnosed DQ tenosynovitis, and performed a left wrist first dorsal compartment release on January 8, 1999.  He found Claimant medically stable as of April 15, 1999,
  but based upon her continued complaints of pain and weakness in pinch and grip strength, he determined Claimant failed surgical treatment. He recommended scar desensitization, wrist range of motion exercises, strengthening exercises, and that no consideration be given for any further surgical intervention or injections until Claimant was at least one year post-op.  He directed Claimant to avoid repetitive use activities with her left wrist.
  

2.
On January 28, 1999, five months after Claimant ceased working for Alaska Cleaners, she complained to Dr. Kase of right wrist pain.  Dr. Kase noted:  “She has similar symptoms of deQuervain’s in the right wrist, as well as a ganglion cyst in the area, or a probable ganglion cyst in the area. However, until she shows me some good response to her left hand surgery, I will be very hesitant to operate on her right side.”
 On February 7, 2000, Claimant was still complaining of problems with both wrists.  Dr. Kase noted the surgery done in January 1999 “did not help much.”  Claimant also complained of right hand and wrist pain to the physical therapist.
  Dr. Kase noted on March 11, 1999, “For some reason she has lost her thumb spica splint.”  Treatment options included another injection into Claimant’s first dorsal compartment or re-exploration of the wrist compartment to look for an unreleased tendon slip.
  Dr. Kase reported Claimant was not working and was having problems with her workers’ compensation claim (WCC) against Alaska Cleaners.  

3.
On June 29, 1999, Shawn Hadley, MD, examined Claimant on behalf of Alaska Cleaners.  Dr. Hadley noted Claimant complained of pain in both her left and right upper extremities, on the left side more than the right.  She stated she was using wrist supports, and her hands would swell.  She described her pain along the right wrist as throbbing, causing shooting pains up her arm, and causing decreased strength on the right.  She reported an inability to pick up items, and trouble tying her shoes and cutting up food. On strength testing Dr. Hadley observed give-way on muscle testing of both hands, but no true focal motor deficit identified.  She found sensory examination to pinprick inconsistent over the left thumb and forearm.  On two trials for grip strengths she found her poor results non-physiologic in origin bilaterally.  She noted her diffuse pain complaints contrasted with “no consistent objective findings.”  Although Claimant stated she had been wearing her splint regularly since October, 1998, Dr. Hadley observed the Velcro showed very little wear and the splint was “quite clean.”  She reported inconsistencies in Claimant’s reported activities, noting “fairly prominent calluses on her thumbs and what appears to be less use of her left wrist splint than she represents.”  Dr. Hadley concluded Claimant’s multiple complaints without objective findings represented significant evidence of symptom magnification and of emotional overlay.  She suggested there may be secondary gain issues motivating her inability to recover and return to work.  Although these issues appeared to be impacting her return to work, Dr. Hadley believed they were unrelated to her work activities.

4.
In August, 2000, Claimant and Alaska Cleaners agreed to a second independent medical evaluation (SIME) concerning causation of Claimant’s reported right wrist pain, PPI, and further medical treatment.  But before the SIME took place, Claimant, represented by counsel, entered into a Compromise and Release Agreement (C&R) with the employer, waiving any and all claim for benefits under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act,
 with the exception of future medical benefits for her left upper extremity; and any and all claims whatsoever with respect to her right upper extremity, in exchange for $7,800.00.  No further complaints of left wrist pain appear in Claimant’s medical records.

Medical History During Employment with CESS.

5.
In April, 2002, Claimant began working as a food service worker for CESS, a provider of support services at Eareckson Air Base on the Aleutian Chain in Shemya, Alaska, a remote site.  The only medical provider in Shemya was the Shemya Clinic (clinic).  

6.
On February 6, 2003, Claimant reported to the clinic complaining of “muscle & bone aches & pains 7:30 @ night mostly,” reporting the aches started around December 19, 2002, when she returned from her last leave.  She described right elbow pain at 8 out of 10 on a 10 point pain scale, and right wrist pain occasionally at an 8/10.  She reported experiencing the right elbow pain when lifting dishes off the conveyor belt at work.  She denied a history of right elbow pain, though admitted she uses a homeopathic roll-on oil for her elbow, which helped for about two hours.  It was noted Claimant had bilateral carpal tunnel diagnosed in 1999-2000.  The examining PA-C noted pain elicited at the right lateral epicondyle when resisting wrist extension and radial deviation, but no pain elicited at the right wrist during exam.  Claimant was diagnosed with right lateral epicondylitis.
  She was issued a tennis elbow strap, given Naproxen, an anti-inflammatory, and Capsaicim cream to apply to sore muscles and joints, and instructed to decrease her use of Nautilus machines during work outs.
  

7.
Claimant returned to the clinic on May 27, 2003, complaining of right wrist pain.  Swelling was noted at the radial styloid process, with positive Finkelstein test.  She was diagnosed with right wrist DQ tenosynovitis, again prescribed an anti-inflammatory, and advised to use ice packs for alternate pain relief.  Claimant made no complaint of elbow pain.  The medical provider discussed with Claimant the option of a steroid and anesthetic injection as the last choice prior to seeing an orthopedic surgeon.

8.
On August 4, 2003, Claimant was seen in the clinic by Dana Campbell, ANP, with complaints of increased right thumb and wrist pain after starting an administrative position with the employer, which required typing and computer work.  Claimant reported her pain was severe and constant, radiating up her arm and inhibiting her sleep.
  Ms. Campbell noted Claimant had a history of mild intermittent, controlled right thumb and wrist pain for ten years.  She was diagnosed with right DQ tenosynovitis exacerbation, likely caused by repetitive use of her right hand, and was provided with and directed to use a thumb spica splint, and a medrol dose pack.
  Claimant made no report of elbow pain.  

9.
On August 9, 2003, Claimant returned to the clinic, stating she was feeling much better.  She was not wearing her thumb splint and was redirected to use the splint for two to three weeks.
  Claimant made no complaint of elbow pain.

10.
On September 8, 2003, Claimant returned to Dr. Kase for the right wrist complaints reported to Shemya Clinic.
  Dr. Kase recorded no complaints of elbow pain.   He prescribed Motrin, physical therapy (3 times per week for 2 weeks) and a thumb spica wrist splint, noting if she was not improved by November or December, a steroid injection into the first dorsal  compartment would be done.  Claimant participated in PT for one week, the modalities employed including range of motion, ultrasound and strengthening as appropriate.  She was provided with written instructions including stretching exercises, and advised on splinting and icing.  She acknowledged her understanding of the treatment plan she would continue independently.  

11.
Sharry Christianson, a co-worker in the production control department on Shemya at that time, recalled Claimant’s complaints of pain in her hands and wrists during her time doing data entry.  She remembered no complaints by Claimant of elbow pain.

12.
Mary McCully, another co-worker in production control on Shemya, recalled Claimant’s complaints about her “wrists,” “hands” and “arms,” during her time doing data entry, but mentioned no complaints of elbow pain.
 

13.
On January 9, 2004, an unsigned, typed Report of Injury (ROI) (dated September 14, 2003), was filed with the Board, describing the type of injury as “Tenosynovitis R thumb and wrist,” due to “repetitive motion injury.”  It appears to have been completed by the employer’s workers’ compensation adjuster, Ward North, on behalf of the parties, and uses the language contained n the August 4, 2003, Shemya Clinic chart note.  

14.
  In April 2004, Claimant went on scheduled leave from Shemya.  During this time off she submitted a letter of resignation, and did not return to work for CESS.  She had been offered a position as a payroll clerk by former CESS co-worker, Mary McCully, now with Nye Toyota in Anchorage, and began working for Nye on or about May 1, 2004.
   When she interviewed for the position with Nye, she told Ms. McCully, who was aware of the problems with Claimant’s wrists and had made efforts on her behalf in Shemya to install an ergonomic work station, she felt she could do data entry work for Nye and would not have a problem.  Ms. McCully testified Claimant appeared to be better, her hands seemed more mobile, and Nye offered an ergonomic work station.
  According to Claimant, she worked at Nye until June 27 or June 28, 2004,
 but left because her “arm was killing” her.

15.
The next medical record is not until June 28, 2004, when Claimant visited the Emergency Room at Valley Hospital, complaining of right wrist pain, and denying other complaints.  On physical examination, other than a positive Finkelstein test consistent with DQ, the exam was unremarkable.  

16.
 On July 5, 2004, Claimant returned to Dr. Kase.  Physical examination revealed tenderness along the right first dorsal wrist compartment with slight swelling, positive Finkelstein, pain limited wrist range of motion, and point tenderness over the right lateral epicondyle.  This was the first mention of elbow pain in Dr. Kase’s notes and the first of any elbow complaint in seventeen months, since the one notation at Shemya Clinic on February 6, 2003.  

17.
Dr. Kase concluded Claimant failed conservative treatment for her wrist condition.  She refused a steroid injection into the wrist, choosing instead to have her right first dorsal compartment released and a steroid injection into her right lateral epicondyle.
  Release of Claimant’s right first dorsal wrist compartment, partial release of the transverse carpal ligament, and an injection of the right lateral epicondyle were performed on July 13, 2004.  Dr. Kase indicated Claimant had chronic DQ, mild carpal tunnel syndrome, and chronic lateral epicondylitis
   Employer began paying Claimant TTD on July 5, 2004, at a compensation rate of $730.82 per week.

18.
Dr. Kase ordered aggressive occupational therapy post surgery, and advised Claimant to stop smoking.  Claimant reported experiencing symptoms of acute coldness in her arm, which Dr. Kase did not see as a major problem, but indicated if it continued, a sympathetic block might be considered.
  

19.
On September 1, 2004, Dr. Kase noted all areas of concern continued to cause Claimant problems, although the lateral epicondylitis was improving.  He identified the formation of a nodule at the site of the right first dorsal compartment release and tenderness at the carpal tunnel incision.  Dr. Kase continued Claimant off work.

20.
By September 30, 2004, Dr. Kase indicated Claimant had bowstringing of her right first dorsal wrist compartment tendons,
 and thought Claimant was developing a ganglion cyst in the proximal end of the tendon sheath.  If Claimant did not improve by the end of October 2004, Dr. Kase planned to aspirate the cyst and if that did not provide improvement, he would re-explore the area surgically.
  Ultimately, Dr. Kase scheduled Claimant for another release of her right first dorsal compartment, this time through a classic incision, the first having been done through a palmar carpal tunnel release incision.  He intended to also remove the suspected ganglion cyst at that time.  He continued Claimant off work.
  The planned surgery did not take place, and Claimant appears not to have returned to Dr. Kase for further care.  At his deposition, Dr. Kase declined to offer any opinion on causation, stating he does not do so routinely, viewing it as a conflict of interest with his duties as the treating physician, since “determining causation may or may not be in the patient’s best interest.” 
  

21.
On February 2, 2005, Claimant saw George Siegfried, MD, for persistent pain and tenderness at the first dorsal retinaculum site on the right; hyperthesia and tenderness in the right palm; and tenderness and pain in the humeral epicondyles with upper arm discomfort and decreased sensation.  This was a return visit to Dr. Siegfried, who Claimant had previously seen on September 20, 2004, for a second opinion on the surgery then recently performed by Dr. Kase.  At that time, she reported persistent pain in the right thumb and wrist, no relief since the DQ and carpal tunnel releases in July, and physical therapy was unsuccessful.  She questioned why the scar from what she believed was a right DQ release, was at a different location on her right hand than the scar on her left hand from her previous DQ surgery.  At the September 20, 2004 visit, Claimant reported no elbow complaints.  At the February 2, 2005 visit, Dr. Siegfried found Claimant’s left first dorsal compartment release revealed good bowstringing and a good release.  He did not find good bowstringing on the right first dorsal compartment.  He noted a positive Finkelstein on the right, and believed Claimant still had right DQ tenosynovitis.
  He directed her to use a thumb spica splint, and referred her to Michael McNamara, MD, a hand specialist.
  He acknowledged Dr. Kase’s surgical report noting a right first dorsal compartment release, but physical findings to the contrary.
  At deposition Dr. Siegfried expressed no opinion concerning the work-relatedness of his physical findings.

22.
On February 21, 2005, Claimant, reporting only right elbow pain, was seen by Robert Thomas, PA-C, of Dr. McNamara's office.  She told Mr. Thomas Dr. Siegfried was treating her DQ tenosynovitis, and would be doing a DQ release in the near future.  According to Dr. Siegfried’s, these assertions are incorrect, and he in fact referred her to Dr. McNamara’s office because of the recurrent DQ.  Mr. Thomas diagnosed right lateral epicondylitis and referred Claimant to occupational therapy. If Claimant continued to have pain and discomfort, an injection would be considered; and if that did not work, Claimant would be seen by Dr. McNamara.
  Claimant attended eight sessions of occupational therapy (OT).
  

23.
On April 4, 2005, she returned to Mr. Thomas, reporting OT had not decreased any of the discomfort in her elbow.  Mr. Thomas diagnosed right lateral epicondylitis and right wrist DQ tenosynovitis.  He administered a right lateral epicondylar steroid injection and scheduled Claimant for an appointment with Dr. McNamara.
  Mr. Thomas expressed no opinion on the cause of Claimant’s right elbow or wrist complaints.

24.
On April 21, 2005, Claimant first met Dr. McNamara.  Upon objective examination, Dr. McNamara noted right wrist swelling of the first dorsal compartment, mild crepitus, and a well-healed surgical scar from previous carpal tunnel release on her palm.
  Subjectively, Claimant reported pain on Finkelstein testing.  Dr. McNamara found full range of motion in Claimant’s elbow and no crepitus.  Subjectively, Claimant demonstrated poor grip and pinch strengths on the right.
  Dr. McNamara scheduled Claimant for surgery.
  He expressed no opinion on the cause of Claimant’s complaints.  At this initial appointment, Dr. McNamara also referred Claimant to Dr. Joella Beard, a physical medicine and rehabilitation specialist, for treatment of pain and reactive depression.

25.
On April 27, 2005,
 Claimant saw Dr. Beard.  On physical examination Dr. Beard noted symptom magnification, including with Finkelstein test, and giveaway weakness inconsistent with Claimant’s medical history.  This is the first visit where Claimant mentions her medial epicondyle.  Dr. Beard found her reported tenderness at the medial epicondyle inconsistent in that on different types of testing the area was not always tender.
  Dr. Beard believed Claimant’s presentation and complaints were more than was reasonably expected medically, and believed there were conditions other than her claimed injury responsible for her complaints.
 She referred Claimant for psychological intervention, suggesting both Lois Michaud, Ph.D and Connie Judd, ANP.
  

26.
On May 11, 2005, Dr. McNamara performed a right first dorsal extensor compartment release, and right lateral epicondylectomy with extensor origin debridement. He noted he located an accessory tendon sheath in the first dorsal compartment and released it.  Claimant thereafter engaged in rehabilitation.
  Four weeks after the surgery, Claimant reported she was 70 percent improved and happy with the results, she was experiencing no numbness or tingling, and had no major complications.  On physical examination, Mr. Thomas indicated Claimant’s motor and sensory function were intact, as was her neurovascular status.

27.
On June 27, 2005, Claimant was evaluated by Connie Judd, Psychiatric Nurse Practitioner.  Ms. Judd reported Claimant’s chief complaint was “feeling hopeless about getting help for pain condition and incorrect surgical procedure…this lifted following recent surgery but ongoing insomnia and fatigue and irritability.” “She will likely be filing litigation against the original surgeon, Dr. Case (sic, Kase)” because he did “incorrect surgery,” and when she woke up he told her “he did a new procedure and hoped she like[d] being a ‘guinea pig.’”  Claimant reported to Ms. Judd she felt hopeful after the second surgery.  She diagnosed “Adjustment disorder with depressed mood, and provisionally, pain disorder with psychological factors and medical condition.”
  Ms. Judd also referred Claimant to Rafael Prieto, MD, for pain management, as Claimant did not wish to return to Dr. Beard.
  Dr. Prieto advised Claimant that smoking causes slow healing in connective tissue.
  Claimant also saw psychologist Lois Michaud, who taught and directed Claimant to practice biofeedback three times per day, and later smoking cessation techniques.
  Claimant continued with occupational therapy.
  

28.
On July 5, 2005, Dr. McNamara saw Claimant for follow-up, seven and a half weeks post right DQ release and right tennis elbow surgery.  He reported Claimant had been doing well, but still complained of soreness in the lateral elbow with the last few degrees of extension and mild soreness in the radial aspect of the right wrist where the first dorsal extensor compartment was released.  Dr. McNamara indicated Claimant had full supination and pronation, and was stable laterally with negative Finkelstein’s and no crepitus; he noted mild swelling over the first dorsal extensor compartment release.  Dr. McNamara did not think Claimant would be medically stable for an additional six to eight weeks.  He anticipated that by August 22, 2005, Claimant would be fully stable and a permanent partial impairment (PPI) rating could be done at that time.  He referred her to Dr. Prieto to take over her care, to determine if she could return to work or whether vocational rehabilitation was necessary, and to conduct a PPI rating.
  Claimant continued with OT.

29.
Based upon a new complaint of right medial elbow pain, the occupational therapist  referred Claimant back to Mr. Thomas.  On his examination on August 9, 2005, Mr. Thomas  again found Claimant's range of motion in pronation and supination full and symmetrical; and full in flexion and extension.  To address Claimant's new complaints, he prescribed further OT.
  Mr. Thomas expressed no opinion on the cause of her medial elbow complaints.

30.
On September 19, 2005, Ms. Judd noted “Depression only partially improved,”  “Working hard to cope with threats of controversion,” “PTSD ‘symptoms’ present related to prior employer situation.

31.
On September 20, 2005, four months after surgery, Mr. Thomas evaluated Claimant and indicated she was medically stable; he did not see her condition changing in the next 45 days.
  

32.
On September 22, 2005, Claimant attended her final occupational therapy session and was discharged with instructions to continue with her home exercise program.  Claimant was referred for a functional capacities evaluation (FCE),
 which results concluded she was incapable of performing sedentary work for eight hours per day, as she was unable to complete the evaluation without added rest periods secondary to increased pain.
  For validity testing, however, the evaluation noted research showed motivated patients self-limited on no more than 20 percent of test items. Claimant's self-limitation was measured at 21 percent; her stated reason for self-limiting behavior was pain.
  Factors underlying Claimant's functional limitations were decreased muscle strength in wrist and elbow muscles, generalized de-conditioning, pain in the wrist and elbow, and self-limiting behavior.

33.
Dr. Prieto, also a physical medicine and rehabilitation specialist, conducted a PPI rating on September 28, 2005.  He diagnosed Claimant with chronic right upper extremity pain secondary to a repetitive motion injury manifesting as DQ tenosynovitis and right lateral epicondylosis.  Based entirely on patient reporting, Dr. Prieto indicated Claimant’s condition was related to industrial injury of August 4, 2003.  He found she had reached medical stability.  Using the AMA’s Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, Fifth Edition, Dr. Prieto found a 7% upper extremity impairment for Claimant’s right wrist, and a 6% upper extremity impairment for her right elbow, resulting in an 8% whole person impairment.
  Claimant was instructed to follow up with him in four weeks to continue pain management and to assist with vocational rehabilitation.  

34.
Based on Claimant’s medical stability, Employer ceased paying TTD on September 20, 2005, and on September 21, 2005, began paying periodic payments, at the TTD rate of $730.82, toward an 8% PPI. 

35.
Dr. Prieto testified his PPI ratings were based on range of motion findings that were effort-dependent, and thus he relied on Claimant presenting herself to him validly.
  He acknowledged that Claimant’s complaints of pain far exceeded any objective findings during his physical examination of Claimant,
 with “a lot of grimacing after even minimal amounts of touch.”
  He saw no objective signs of complex regional pain syndrome (CRPS), such as trophic changes of the skin, her blood flow seemed fine, and she did not present to him as suffering CRPS.
  In his deposition testimony, Dr. Prieto disagreed with Dr. Vermillion’s 2009 “laundry list of possible things affecting the wrist and forearm,” finding it “not very definitive.”  He reiterated, when he examined Claimant, she had “tennis elbow,” and “possible golfer’s elbow,” not CRPS,
 and noted Dr. Vermillion’s revised assessment dated June 20, 2007, was reduced to medial and lateral epicondylitis and DQ tenosynovitis, with possible ganglion, and no longer included diagnoses of CRPS or median neuropathy.
    
36.
On October 20, 2005, Dr. McNamara again referred Claimant to Dr. Beard to assist with vocational rehabilitation and long-term planning for work.  Dr. McNamara also urged Claimant to stop smoking, indicating this may be contributing to some of her symptoms.  Claimant was to continue to follow with Connie Judd for depression.

37.
On October 27, 2005, Claimant reported to Lois Michaud she was leaving on November 1, 2005, to visit friends in Florida, and would be returning on November 30, 2005.
  This was the first of two trips Claimant would take to Florida.

38.
During this period Claimant contacted Dr. McNamara's office, pointing out discrepancies between her impressions and Dr. McNamara's chart notes.  On November 2, 2005, Dr. McNamara documented Claimant's concerns and provided explanations to the extent possible.  Given Claimant’s perceived mistrust and apparent loss of confidence in Alaska Orthopedic Specialists, Dr. McNamara recommended Claimant transfer her care to another provider, and offered to make a referral.
  In neither his chart notes or deposition did Dr. McNamara attribute  any of Claimant’s complaints to her work for CESS.

39.
At this time Claimant also asked Dr. Prieto to amend her medical records, specifically requesting he comment on Dr. Kase’s surgical report, and asking him to include a diagnosis of medial epicondylitis in his report.  Dr. Prieto responded that although he reviewed the surgical records from the procedure performed by Dr. Kase on July 13, 2004, he would not comment on what procedures were actually performed, or whether there was a discrepancy between Claimant’s history and what appeared in the medical record.  He declined to add a diagnosis of medical epicondylitis, stating “The diffuse nature of your tenderness after your surgery makes the finding of tenderness at the medial epicondyle difficult to interpret, so that diagnosis was not listed among the final diagnoses.”

40.
On December 15, 2005, in her Plan of Care for Claimant, and based on the FCE, Dr. Beard indicated Claimant did not meet the criteria for her prior jobs. 
 She noted Claimant  could perform sedentary work for less than eight hours per day, but noted some of her disability was the result of de-conditioning and smoking.
  She recommended a trial with a pain clinic.
  Claimant continued to smoke one pack of cigarettes per day.
  Dr. Beard noted Claimant’s subjective reports of ongoing pain, dysesthesia, and disability were greater than was reasonably expected given her injury and surgeries. Dr. Beard found Claimant's request for a “handicap sticker,” which Dr. Beard refused, suggestive of psychological overlay.  She advised Claimant she needed to start using her arm as much as possible.  Dr. Beard ordered pool therapy, hoping it would be beneficial on several levels. Dr. Beard wrote she did not believe Claimant’s continuing reports of pain were a Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CRPS), but left this to be evaluated by Gregory Polston, MD.

41.
On January 4, 2006,  Dr. Polston evaluated Claimant.  He noted “slight swelling” at the right wrist.  Based on Claimant’s reports of continuing pain, he diagnosed scar neuroma at the right wrist, but noted Claimant’s elbow scar was nontender.  He recorded Claimant’s complaints of medial elbow pain.  He continued Claimant on Vicodin, had her sign an opioid contract and started her on Lyrica.
  Dr. Polston expressed no opinion on the cause of Claimant’s complaints.

42.
At the request of the insurer’s nurse case manager, Dr. Beard received and reviewed Claimant's entire medical record. Dr. Beard reiterated her belief that the level of disability Claimant presented exceeded her medical condition.  She opined this suggested Claimant's primary diagnosis included major depression; however, she did not believe any depression was exclusively related to Claimant’s claimed injury or her medical condition.  Dr. Beard mentioned evidence in the medical record of potential litigation relative to Dr. Kase’s surgery, suggesting secondary gain issues on Claimant’s part.  Finally, Dr. Beard noted Claimant's long history of smoking and her exposure to tuberculosis at a young age, which raised concern for some other process.
  

43.
At the request of Claimant’s vocational rehabilitation specialist, Dr. Beard reviewed job descriptions, approving the SCODDOT
 job description for Cashier, with modifications; but disapproving the SCODDOTs for Dishwasher, Janitor, Data Entry, Cleaner Helper, or Stock Clerk.  The SCODDOT for Office Manager was approved with modifications, as was the SCODDOT for Assistant Manager.
  Dr. Beard told Claimant that by indicating she was not approved for some of the positions previously held, Dr. Beard was not implying Claimant could never return to full-time sedentary employment.

44.
On January 16, 2006, Claimant notified Connie Judd she was moving to Florida, which Ms. Judd supported.  If Claimant's depression did not remit with her move to Florida, Ms. Judd suggested she consider medication for depression.

45.
On January 18, 2006, Claimant reported to Dr. Polston she was moving out of Alaska.  On examination she reported tenderness at the medial epicondyle, and over the right wrist scar, not at the elbow scar.  Dr. Polston recommended a neuroma wrist injection, but Claimant declined.  He continued her on Vicodin.

46.
On January 19, 2006, Claimant had her last session with Lois Michaud.  She reported she was moving, and would line up pain management and a smoking cessation program in Florida.

47.
On January 26, 2006, under video surveillance, Claimant was filmed exiting her vehicle, and twice entering and exiting a post office.  On the first return Claimant carried three stacked boxes using both arms.  She placed the boxes on the closed trunk hood, unlocked the rear door of her car with her right hand, and slammed the car door with her right hand and arm.  On the second trip, she exited the post office with a box in her right arm, before switching it to the left.  She placed the last box in the car, slammed the door with her right hand and arm, and drove off, arriving at another office building.  When she exited the second building, she unlocked her car door with her right hand, and again slammed the door with her right hand and arm.   

48.
On January 31, 2006, Claimant received the last of her PPI payments, for a total PPI award, based on an 8% whole person impairment, of $14,160.00.  On February 6, 2006, Claimant was found eligible for reemployment benefits.  Employer began paying a § .041(k) stipend of $639.47 per week.  

49.
On February 7, 2006, Claimant notified Dr. Beard’s office she was leaving the state on February 15, 2006, and wanted a copy of her medical records.

50.
On February 20, 2006, at the employer's request, a medical panel consisting of Stephen Fuller, MD, orthopedic physician; Gerald Reimer, MD, neurologist; and S. David Glass, MD, psychiatrist; conducted an employer's medical evaluation (EME).
  Drs. Reimer and Glass were present and observed as Dr. Fuller performed the physical examination.   Following the physical examination, Dr. Glass further evaluated Claimant by interview, and administered to her the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (MMPI-2).

51.
Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer found Claimant less than straightforward in her physical presentation:

“She responded to light touch involving virtually all aspects of her right upper extremity distal to the mid biceps region.  This is a new subjective finding compared to examinations performed by all prior examiners.  This finding has no objective basis.

She also claimed global weakness in testing the motor functions of her right upper extremity.  Again this was a nonorganic finding. Currently, there is no objective basis to suggest persistent deQuervain’s tenosynovitis.  She has full excursion of the abductor pollicus longus tendons, without any crepitus or scar formation or build up.  She has full radial ulnar deviation of her right wrist, without positive Finkelstein's.  Several such maneuvers were performed, with her thumb in her palm, under the guise of neurological testing, which did not provoke a deQuervain's type response from her radial wrist.”

52.
After the physical examination and review of the medical records provided, Drs. Fuller and Reimer reached the following conclusions and rendered the following opinions:

A)   There was never any definite organic pathology noted in Claimant's right wrist that supported the diagnosis of DQ tenosynovitis.  


B)   Based on Claimant’s statements to ANP Campbell on August 4, 2003, Claimant had a preexisting DQ tenosynovitis which was temporarily exacerbated by her data entry activities for the employer.  She was correctly treated with a Medrol dose pack and splint.  


C)  Because the right DQ tenosynovitis was already present and symptomatic before August 4, 2003, it could not have happened “but for” Claimant's computer data entry employment.  The few months of typing in data entry was not so important in bringing about the DQ tenosynovitis such that reasonable persons, when comparing this mechanism to the pre-existing history, would regard data entry as being a responsible cause of the condition versus simply causing a transient exacerbation of symptoms attributable to the pre-existing condition.
  

D) The typing activities for the employer were a substantial factor in producing symptoms for a transient exacerbation of symptoms from Claimant's pre-existing DQ tenosynovitis condition, but work for the employer did not cause a permanent wrist tendinitis as of August 4, 2003.

E)  Based on Claimant's failure to seek medical attention for any right wrist complaints until July, 2004, the August 4, 2003 transient exacerbation of Claimant's pre-existing DQ became medically stable on September 10, 2003.  They indicated that DQ tenosynovitis occurs spontaneously and frequently presents with multiple transient episodes, and could have come on simply through the activities of daily living; or from Claimant's data entry work at Nye Toyota.
  

F)  Claimant’s complaints of lateral epicondylitis did not arise until July 5, 2004, long after she quit working for the employer, and did not present in a timely enough fashion to be related to Claimant’s work for the employer.
  In any event, any elbow complaints became  stable following the surgery performed by Dr. McNamara, and needed no further objective treatment after September 2005.

G)  Because Claimant’s complaints of medial epicondylitis did not arise until July, 2005, nearly two years since her reported work injury; since she was doing nothing harmful to the medial elbow in physical therapy; and had never exhibited medial elbow pain, Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer concluded any medial elbow pain would be unrelated to Claimant’s  work.  They opined the sudden emergence of medial elbow symptoms suggested Claimant was performing manual activities she was not disclosing.  If that was the case, that use of her right arm confirmed no continuing impairment in the lateral elbow or radial wrist.
  

H)  Concerning Dr. Kase’s diagnosis of carpal tunnel syndrome, they found this diagnosis was not based on either subjective complaints or objective findings and noted  Claimant's 2004 pre-operative consent was only for a DQ release.
  

I)  The right wrist first dorsal compartment release and lateral epicondylectomy performed by Dr. McNamara were done in optimal fashion and were successful.  Drs. Fuller and Reimer defined a successful surgical result as restoring function and indicated their examination of Claimant revealed normal function restored.  Dr. McNamara’s post operative records, and the post operative records of occupational therapy, demonstrated normal physiological healing and improvement.  Drs. Fuller and Reimer concurred with Dr. McNamara’s prediction Claimant’s wrist would be fixed and stable by August 22, 2005; three months after the release surgery being more than enough time for a physiological healing to take place.  They opined that after August 22, 2005, there was no basis for Claimant’s subjective symptoms, and Claimant needed no further treatment for DQ tenosynovitis.


J)  Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer opined that based upon normal ranges of motion, normal x-rays, normal neurological status, and no crepitus of any muscle or attending group, there was no basis to attribute either temporary or permanent physical restrictions to the diagnoses of right DQ tenosynovitis or lateral epicondylitis.  They found no organic basis for Claimant’s continuing complaints.  They concluded the results of Claimant's functional capacity evaluation to be “fake bad” and did not correlate with the minor nature of her surgeries, or with the reasonable recovery illustrated in Dr. McNamara's follow-up notes or her post operative therapy records.   


K)  They found no objective organic basis in either her wrist or elbow that permanently precluded her from returning to any work she desired to take on, including manual work in the medium demand category, as demonstrated in the post operative physical therapy records when she was housecleaning and vacuuming in the early post operative recovery phase, and she could return to her regular work as a production control clerk.


L)  Based on Claimant's normal ranges of motion of her right wrist, and normal function of all tendons crossing her right wrist, they found no basis for any permanent impairment rating
  They found no organically based reason to attribute any permanent impairment to the right lateral epicondylitis, as their examination revealed her right elbow was normal in terms of ranges of motion and had normal function of the dorsal extensor muscle / tendon group.  They emphasized that Claimant’s currently claimed wrist and elbow conditions were subjective complaints only with no verifiable organic basis.

M)  Based upon the normal functioning of her right elbow and normal objective functioning of her right wrist, Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer found Claimant's prognosis was excellent.  They opined she needed no further treatment for any right upper extremity condition.

N)
Dr. Stephen Fuller later testified that from his physical examination of Claimant on February 20, 2006, he was unable to elicit any neuroma response; and from his review of the record as a whole, found no persuasive evidence Claimant ever suffered CRPS or neuritis.    

O)
Dr. Reimer later testified no evidence of neuroma or CRPS was seen upon examination in February, 2006.

53.
After the physical examination, review of the medical records provided, his psychiatric interview with Claimant, and his scoring of her answers on the MMPI-2, Dr. Glass reached the following conclusions and rendered the following opinions:

A)  Claimant’s MMPI-2 test results were valid for somatic preoccupation, dissatisfaction with some aspects of living, and modestly hysterical psychodynamics.  The results reflected Claimant feeling she is struggling against something – perhaps some type of authority.  He stated her profile is consistent with individuals who have long-standing, pre-existing unhappiness and somatic overfocus and reinforces psychiatric diagnoses of somataform, dysthymic and/or personality disorders.
  He later explained he did not use the MMPI-2 test results “to make psychiatric diagnoses; rather the MMPI-2 is designed to assess a variety of personality attributes in a single administration and may … provide some insights….”
   
B)  In light of Claimant's history of ongoing subjective pain complaints that are not clearly substantiated by the level of actual physical pathology, as well as having not responded to conservative management and surgeries, he opined the most appropriate DSM-IV diagnosis is pain disorder associated with psychological factors.  He explained this somataform pain disorder is caused by non-work psychosocial issues interacting with constitutional and developmental factors such as personality.  He also diagnosed nicotine dependence.
 These disorders, according to Dr. Glass, are not caused by actual injury or tissue pathology.  Claimant's nicotine dependence, in Dr. Glass's opinion, was pre-existing and relates to constitutional and developmental issues.

C)  None of the psychiatric diagnoses were caused, aggravated or accelerated by Claimant's work exposure with the employer; and there is no combined condition and no permanent psychiatric impairment as a result of the work exposure or resulting treatment.

D)   Claimant does not require psychiatric treatment for counseling as a result of her work injury with the employer.  However, he offered some comments regarding her over all medical management:

Ms. Rockstad represents the psychogenic pain disorder…, and patients with these conditions are managed by treating them with strong expectation and suggestion that they will get better and are not as ill as they believe themselves to be.  This is done by stressing action oriented treatments - active exercise - and avoiding passive modalities of care (injections, massage, electrical stimulation, etc.) as well as the paraphernalia of invalidism: unnecessary canes, braces, polypharmacy, etc., the use of addicting drugs - narcotics or other addicting agents; i.e., Soma (an addicting tranquilizer) or benzodiazepines - is to be strenuously curtailed.

Early return to work and encouragement to engage in regular routine and activities is helpful - activity level is important.  As tolerated physically, Ms. Rockstad should develop a self-directed exercise program to include flexibility, aerobic and muscle strengthening exercises; regular (three or more times a week) exercise, in particular aerobic exercise, has been demonstrated to be useful in stabilizing mood, improving sleeping and morale, diminishing obsessive compulsive behaviors, managing pain and facilitating adaptation.

Use of the antidepressants is often beneficial in terms of management; these medications would be anticipated to decrease pain preoccupation and improve morale and functioning.  Such agents are not addicting, generally well tolerated, and have been found to be useful in somaform disorders (307.80); personality disorders (301.9); anxiety disorders; situational distress; and obsessive-compulsive behaviors, as well as effective for dysthymic symptomology and pain management.

E)  From a psychiatric standpoint, Dr. Glass opined Claimant had no temporary or permanent work restrictions; and did not demonstrate any permanent psychiatric impairment under the AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, Fifth Edition, related to her work with the employer.


F)   He recommended Claimant move on with her life.  He opined that secondary gain and other psychosocial circumstances are involved with what he characterized as an extreme degree of somatic preoccupation and subjective pain complaints and disability.  He reiterated that any form of psychotherapy or counseling should focus on active exercise of behavioral change and warned that Claimant may attempt to use sessions with a counselor to reinforce her disability, rather than help, and the providers should take this into consideration.

54.
Claimant’s assertion the EME physicians are untruthful because their written report states they examined her, when only Dr. Fuller performed a physical examination, is without merit.  Following the EME panel’s established protocol, Drs. Reimer and Glass were present in the examination room and observed as Dr. Fuller performed the physical examination.   

55.
Claimant’s assertion Dr. Glass’ opinions and testimony lack veracity because he did not administer an MMPI-2 during his psychiatric evaluation of her as he claims he did, is unfounded.  The basis for Claimant’s allegation she was not administered an MMPI-2 is her claim the answer sheet bearing her name is in handwriting other than her own.  Dr. Glass was convincing in his testimony that he conducted a private psychiatric evaluation of Claimant following the physical examination, and thereafter administered the MMPI-2 by providing Claimant with the question booklet and the answer sheet upon which he wrote Claimant’s name at the top.  Following his standard practice, he testified, she was then provided a private room in which to answer the test questions, after which she returned the completed answers to his receptionist from whom he retrieved it.  He then scored it himself.   

56.  
When he later viewed the surveillance videotape from January 26, 2006, shot three weeks prior to the EME panel’s examination of Claimant on February 20, 2006, Dr. Fuller commented:

In carrying these boxes her elbows are flexed at 90 degrees, the right elbow was functioning normally in carrying, lifting and extending.  As she carried the boxes her hands were on the side of the boxes with the fingers curled underneath.  In this fashion her right wrist is at maximum ulnar deviation and her thumb is opposed about 50% along the side of the box.  

The above position is the same wrist/thumb position used to perform a Finkelstein’s test which is the diagnostic test for de Quervain’s tenosynovitis of the first dorsal wrist compartment.  This test obviously is negative in this case and is not painful because she is able to adopt this prolonged carrying position without any problems. In turn, a negative Finkelstin’s test means that there is no pain generated from the first dorsal compartment or the base of the thumb or her alleged ganglion or the carpal tunnel.

She then used her right hand to open the car door…Normal use of the keys is noted with normal power pinch.  In performing these various maneuvers, she was noted to have normal reaching ability, normal ability to place objects, normal flexion/extension/rotation of her wrist/elbow, and normal control of her fingers.  Her ungloved right hand was later noted on the steering wheel as she drove the car.  This ability contradicted her earlier statement that she could only drive her car left handed.

Dr. Fuller concluded the objective video evidence of Claimant using her right hand and arm normally, is inconsistent with her claims of chronic pain and disability in her right upper extremity.  Dr. Fuller concluded Claimant’s normal use of her right upper extremity, evident in the January 26, 2006, and later December 12 and 14, 2006 video surveillance, was consistent with malingering.

57.
Comparing the surveillance video to his own evaluation of Claimant, Dr. Glass modified his diagnosis of somatoform disorder or pain disorder associated with psychological factors, to also add malingering:

The surveillance indicates some conscious embellishment of her level of disability with her right upper extremity; conscious embellishment of symptoms as a way of appearing more ill than one is in actuality so as to obtain some gain is called malingering.  

He opined there was an element of both conscious and unconscious behavior in Claimant’s presentation of symptoms, but with conscious embellishment predominating.
  

58.
On March 14, 2006, Northern Rehabilitation Services was assigned to develop Claimant’s retraining plan.

59.
Claimant made her second trip to Florida in early April, 2006.
  William May, a boyfriend of Claimant’s from Alaska who had moved to Florida, and who Claimant visited on both occasions, testified he was aware of Claimant’s problems with her right arm in Alaska, and she continued having problems using her right arm during her stay in Florida.

60.
While Claimant was in Florida in April, 2006, her benefits, then a reemployment stipend under AS 23.30.041(k), were terminated for her failure to cooperate with the rehabilitation specialist assigned to develop a reemployment plan.  

61.
On April 7, 2006, Dr. Beard responded to questions put to her concerning the EME reports of Dr. Fuller, Dr. Reimer and Dr. Glass.  Dr. Beard’s diagnostic impression for Claimant’s claimed work injury remained right DQ tenosynovitis, with release in May 2005; right lateral epicondylitis, with epicondylectomy and extensor origin debridement; and right carpal tunnel release.  She questioned whether the medial epicondylitis ever really existed.  She agreed with the EME panel’s opinions that Claimant’s work activities for the employer were not a substantial factor in producing the various diagnoses.  She further agreed with the EME panel’s opinions on dates of medical stability and the absence of any permanent impairment.

62.
Dr. Beard acknowledged Claimant did poorly on the physical capacity evaluation, and noted the therapist believed the testing valid.  However, Dr. Beard believed otherwise, stating:

I do not believe she is incapable of these activities and sometimes it is helpful with the patient with somatoform disorder to try to encourage them to return to some level of activity and then progress from there.  However it is apparent that she has no intention of doing so at least at the time of my examination.  For example, I knew that her level of disability was greater than her medical condition and that she had requested a handicap sticker although that was unreasonable.

63.
Dr. Beard acknowledged she initially believed there was a possibility of impairment, however, based on the examination performed by the EME physicians, Dr. Beard agreed there was no permanent impairment relative to Claimant’s claimed injury.
 Finally, Dr. Beard agreed with the EME panel that there was no ongoing need for treatment for Claimant’s physical condition; treatment for her somatic disorder might be beneficial, but would be unrelated to her claimed injury.

64.
On May 10, 2006, Claimant was treated for cellulitis at Garden Urgent Care in Palm Beach Garden, Florida.
  Her extremities were noted as nontender, her range of motion full, no edema, sensory and motor intact, and no vascular compromise.  On May 11, 2006, she was admitted to St. Mary’s Medical Center for an abscess on her neck, cellulitis and an upper airway obstruction, and underwent incision and drainage of the abscess.
  The abscess was re-explored surgically and drained again on May 18, 2006.
  While in the hospital Claimant acquired an infection.  She was seriously ill as a result, but ultimately recovered and was released on May 30, 2006.  

The voluminous medical records from St. Mary’s Medical Center reflect no complaints by Claimant to her physicians about her right wrist or arm.  On intake her extremities were recorded as within normal limits, with no motor or sensory deficit.  She was observed by hospital staff eating and writing with her right hand and arm.  Claimant’s assertions her pain persisted during this hospitalization, and the IV was placed only in her left hand, were contradicted by the medical records from St. Mary’s showing IV insertion into her right hand.  

65.
Claimant returned to Alaska “the first part of August,” 2006.

66.
Other than her stay at St. Mary’s, the record is devoid of treatment notes of any kind from January, 2006, until August, 2006, when Claimant returned to Alaska and resumed her subjective pain complaints with Dr. Hinman, at Advanced Pain; Dr. Holladay, who saw her on only one occasion for a social security disability evaluation; Dr. Vermillion; and later SIME physicians Dr. Wilson and Dr. Ling.  On August 14, 2006, she saw Jon Hinman, MD, complaining of right arm pain from her right elbow on the lateral aspect down her arm, worsened by cold and dampness.  She reported specific pains over the anterior right wrist and along the incision line where she had a carpal tunnel release, as well as pain in her right snuffbox area secondary to the DQ procedure on the right.  Based on Claimant’s subjective complaints, she was given a “tentative diagnosis” of scar neuroma over the right lateral epicondylar area primarily, with a lesser scar neuroma sensation over the site of the DQ release procedure on the right lateral wrist, as well as positive Tinel’s signs over the median nerve on the right.
  

67.
On August 16, 2006, Claimant returned to Connie Judd, psychiatric nurse practitioner. Ms. Judd noted she had last seen Claimant in January, 2006, and that Claimant “finally went on her trip to Florida in April, back by June.”  Ms. Judd noted Claimant had generalized worry with perseveration regarding conflicts with the workers’ compensation system:  “workers comp has not sent her money, they did not pay for last script…they…fired her vocational counselor and no one has helped her with new vocational rehab plan…now a symptom with her arm pain where there is a ‘pressure’ tightly around her upper arm.”  Ms. Judd diagnosed depression disorder secondary to medical condition and to insomnia; pain disorder with psychological factors and  general medical condition, nicotine dependence, and rule out post-traumatic stress disorder symptoms related to Claimant’s perceived betrayal by her employer and the workers’ compensation system.  The priority was to get Claimant sleeping again and she was to be seen weekly to adjust medications.
  Notably absent from the information Claimant provided Ms. Judd is of her lengthy Florida hospitalization. 

68.
On August 30, 2006, Dr. Hinman performed scar neuroma injections at the wrist and elbow, noting Claimant’s pain complaints were primarily at the elbow scar.  Claimant was to follow up in two weeks to assess her pain relief and repeat an injection if she received benefit, utilizing Botox, a longer acting modality with a higher potential for benefit.
  As of September 12, 2006, Claimant reported her pain was still at a 9/10.  She reported having only a two hour period where she was pain-free.  Dr. Hinman noted Claimant had a partial success with the scar neuroma injection and continued to believe she might benefit from a Botox injection into the scar since she claimed to have had an albeit brief period of pain relief.  Prior to a Botox injection, he decided to address any sympathetically mediated pain from the central spinal cord location and treat it with a stellate ganglion block in the right side of Claimant's neck.
  

69.
On September 14, 2006, in a session with Lois Michaud, Claimant was provided therapeutic support.
  She and Ms. Michaud discussed how Claimant would take care of herself, given the denial of her workers’ compensation claim.  On the same date, Claimant was also seen by Ms. Judd who indicated Claimant's depression disorder was complicated by several factors, including etiology of a work-related injury with chronic pain, exacerbated by loss of function and income, and Claimant's recent surgery in Florida.  Ms. Judd found Claimant motivated to work through her depression.

70.
On December 4, 2006, Ms. Judd certified Claimant had chronic mental illness for chronic and acute medical assistance.

71.
David Holladay, MD, a psychiatrist, examined Claimant on February 6, 2007, on behalf of the Social Security Administration (SSA), to assist in its evaluation for Claimant’s application of disability benefits. He was provided with limited medical records from the SSA, and had no other information from sources to contradict anything Claimant was reporting to him. She reported severe pain in her arm, described as “stabbing, burning, or shooting…24/7” for two or three years, mood and anxiety symptoms, and social withdrawal “I would sit on the couch and didn’t want to move.”
 His report includes numerous verbatim statements from Claimant from which he based his diagnoses of bipolar disorder, depressed type, provisional; and agoraphobia, probable. He noted “it is unclear to what extent her early childhood traumas and personality factors may be contributing” and noted “a possible family history of bipolar disorder.” Dr. Holladay expressed no opinion on the cause of Claimant’s physical complaints or any more certain cause of her mood disorder in either his evaluation report or at his deposition.

72.
On December 5, 2006, Claimant described her right arm pain to Dr. Hinman as a 9 to 10 on a 10 point pain scale, with pins and needles, stabbing, aching, burning quality, non-radiating but continuous, and not improved with anything.  Subjectively, pain was reported at the medial and lateral condylar areas, and at the elbow scar.  No reports of pain on palpation at the wrist were noted. Objectively, Dr. Hinman saw no arm discoloration, no sensory loss in the dermatomes of her upper extremities bilaterally, and Claimant had full range of motion of her arm.  Dr. Hinman completed paperwork in support of Claimant’s application for public assistance, noting he expected Claimant to recover from her “scar neuroma” condition with 12 or more months of therapy, to include medications, bier blocks and stellate ganglion blocks.
  

73.
Employer conducted further video surveillance of Claimant in December, 2006.  On December 12, 2006, Claimant was filmed in a department store, pushing a shopping cart, and using both left and right hands and arms to pick up and examine products, and place them in her cart.  She returned to her car with two shopping bags carried with her left arm and hand.  She placed the bags on the ground, opened the trunk of her car with her right hand, and while lifting both bags with both hands, transferred the bags to her left hand on the way into the trunk.  She slammed the trunk with her left hand, and opened the driver’s door with the keys in her right hand.  Later in the day she exited Great Harvest Bread Company, unlocked her car door with her right hand, and lifted a water bottle with her right hand.  At a gas station she removed the gas cap from her car with her right hand, and lifted the gas hose and nozzle with the right hand before setting the auto flow.   When done, she removed the nozzle from the tank with her right hand, and replaced the gas cap with her right hand.  She was later filmed as she lifted a 12-pack of Dr. Pepper from a shopping cart with her left hand, then, holding the bottom of the carton with her right hand, placed it with both hands into the car.

74.
On December 14, 2006, video surveillance began at approximately 8:30 a.m., as Claimant and non-attorney representative, Mary Thoeni, entered an office building later identified as 510 L Street, Anchorage, to attend Claimant’s video-deposition.

75.
The deposition convened at 9:08.  Claimant declined to raise her right hand when administered the oath, explaining her “arm is really hurting.”  She testified she was unable to raise her arm because of the pain, which she stated has “been ongoing since my injury.”
  Asked if the pain came and went or has been permanent “24/7 since the injury,” she responded, “24/7.”
  Asked why she held her right arm in a crooked pose close to her body, she stated she has to hold her arm in that fashion “regularly,” “on a daily basis,” “because it’s hurting.”
  

Claimant testified she was unable to handle or remove the cap from a bottle of water with her right arm.
  She stated the pain in her right hand prevented her from opening the door to a building, she could not use her right hand while driving, could not “open and close a door” with her “right arm at all,” and could not hold a 12-ounce paper cup full of coffee.
  She stated she always uses her left arm, not her right, when she gets into a car.
 She testified she last went shopping within the last couple of days, but was unable to use her right arm when she was shopping, or carry anything.
 At approximately 11:00 a.m., Claimant’s non-attorney representative stated the deposition needed to stop and be re-scheduled because Claimant was “extremely tired.”  When Claimant was asked if she felt she could continue, she responded she could not continue because of her pain, which she rated at that moment as 9.5 on a ten point pain scale.
  The deposition ended at 11:17 a.m.

76.
Following the deposition, Claimant and her representative were filmed arriving at Claimant’s car, and finding it had been issued a parking ticket.  With her right hand, Claimant reached and retrieved the ticket from under the windshield wiper and handed it to Ms. Thoeni.  They then entered the car Claimant on the driver’s side, Ms. Thoeni on the passenger side.  Claimant reached overhead with her right hand, and tucked the ticket under the sun visor.  Then, grasping her handbag in her right hand, Claimant lifted it with her right arm, and reached behind her, placing the handbag in the back seat.  Before driving off, Claimant and Ms. Thoeni each smoked cigarettes.  Claimant held the cigarette in her right hand, and raised it to her mouth with her right arm.  At 11:50 a.m., Claimant and Ms. Thoeni arrived at a location bearing a sign stating “Patient drop off only.”  Ms. Thoeni exited the vehicle and walked off camera.  Claimant drove off and parked a distance away from the patient drop off.  At 12:10 p.m., Claimant returned to the patient drop off, picked up Ms. Thoeni, and the pair drove off.

77.
When Claimant’s deposition reconvened on March 9, 2007, she was questioned about her activities and pain level following the break in the deposition on December 14.  Claimant reiterated her pain was near a level 10 when the deposition ended at 11:17 a.m. that day, and she did not recover at all the remainder of the day.  When asked what activities comprised the rest of her day, she said she took Ms. Thoeni home, went home herself and went to bed.  Her pain was at a 10 when she went to bed.

78.
Claimant would continue seeing Dr. Hinman of Advanced Pain, throughout 2007 and into 2008.  Dr. Hinman never attributed Claimant’s complaints to her work for CESS:

A)
On January 12, 2007. Claimant’s subjective complaints were: “stabbing, aching and burning, 8-9 out of 10 and continuous.  While noting Claimant’s complaints exhibited “features” of CRPS, he diagnosed scar neuroma, primarily at the right lateral elbow, but also from the right wrist. 
  Dr. Hinman noted the past steroid injection into a scar provided relief only until the anesthetic wore off, leaving Claimant a candidate for Bier block or stellate ganglion block.

B)
On March 13, 2007, Claimant reported her pain as 9 out of 10, with an aching pins and needles quality.  She reported tenderness over the radial aspect of her right distal arm, as well as at the medial epicondyle.  Her elbow scar was reported as only mildly tender.

C)
On April 3, 2007, Claimant reported her pain was continuous.  Objectively, Dr. Hinman noted the wrist and elbow scars were non-discolored, and non-allodynic to soft touch.  Dr. Hinman continued his diagnosis of scar neuroma.

D)
On May 2, 2007, Claimant complained of medial epicondylar pain, a scar pain over the site of a transposition over her right elbow ulnar nerve, an aching pins and needles sensation over the distal radial nerve at the right snuffbox, and a right volar wrist ganglion that was aching in quality.  Dr. Hinman diagnosed medial epicondylitis, joint pain in the hand, and scar neuroma.  Claimant was referred to Doug Vermillion, M.D., for evaluation of her medial epicondylitis and ganglion cysts over the right wrist as well as her right arm pain.

79.
Dr. Vermillion evaluated Claimant on May 22, 2007.  X-rays of Claimant's wrist and elbow were normal.  Dr. Vermillion’s “impression” was possible median nerve neuropathy, complex regional pain syndrome, history of tennis elbow, possible golfer’s elbow, and recurrent deQuervain's.  Wanting to rule out neurologic pathologies, Dr. Vermillion ordered an electromyography (EMG) of the median nerve across Claimant’s elbow and forearm. 

80.
On May 29, 2007, Shawn Johnston, MD, performed the EMG studies ordered by Dr. Vermillion. He first noted Claimant had symmetric upper extremity strength, reflexes and sensation.  EMG testing revealed Claimant's right median and ulnar motor and sensory nerves, as well as her right radial and ulnar motor and sensory nerves were within normal limits.  A needle evaluation of the right upper extremity was also conducted and was within normal limits.  Dr. Johnston found no electrophysiologic evidence of any radial, median, or ulnar neuropathy to account for any of Claimant's symptoms, nor any electrophysiologic evidence of any cervical radiculopathy.  He opined Claimant’s symptoms were not neuropathic, and more likely associated with refractory lateral and medial epicondylitis.  He recommended Claimant continue with stretching exercises, use of a tennis elbow brace, and ice massage to treat her symptoms.
  Dr. Johnson never attributed Claimant’s complaints to her employment with CESS, or her subsequent surgeries.

81.
On June 20, 2007, Claimant saw Dr. Vermillion for EMG follow-up.  Presumably she was informed the studies were normal.  Dr. Vermillion also attributed her pain to the right medial and lateral epicondyle.  Claimant reported she was not feeling well, her pain at a 9.5 out of ten.  On physical examination Claimant remained unchanged from prior examination: she had full range of motion, and was reportedly tender in the medial and lateral epicondyle, the wrist on the volar aspect, and the first dorsal compartment.  Claimant reported she had a ganglion; however, Dr. Vermillion could not palpate one.  Dr. Vermillion diagnosed medial and lateral epicondylitis and wrist tenosynovitis with possible ganglion, dropping his former impression of median nerve neuropathies and complex regional pain syndrome from his diagnoses.

Dr. Vermillion’s plan was to do a debridement, using platelet rich plasma to try to get any tendinopathies to be more inclined to heal.  However, he noted that this would not work in the face of Claimant’s smoking.  He referred her to another physician for evaluation for the smoking cessation drug Chantix, and did not plan to see her again until she quit smoking.

82.
On June 29, 2007, Claimant returned to Dr. Hinman with the same pain complaints.  Her then current medications were Methadone, Effexor and Ambien.  His assessment was chronic arm pain, “which has elements of CRPS.”  He noted Claimant had seen Dr. Vermillion, but appears unaware Dr. Vermillion had already ruled out CRPS based on Dr. Johnston’s EMG studies.

On August 10, 2007, Claimant reported to Dr. Hinman she had been diagnosed with CRPS, and her pain was then at a 9 out of 10, with a pins, needles and burning sensation.  Dr. Hinman then added CRPS, along with scar neuroma and possible wrist ganglion, to his diagnoses.  Claimant requested a right stellate ganglion block, which was performed on August 21, 2007.   Dr. Hinman’s pre-procedure diagnosis for administering the block was CRPS.  On follow-up on September 5, 2007, Claimant reported only 48 hours of relief, then a return to right arm pain at a continuous 9 out of 10, with aching, stabbing, pins and needles. On December 19, 2007, Claimant’s complaints remained the same.  Her relevant medications at that time were noted as Methadone, Prozac, Ativan, and Ambien. 

On December 19, 2007, Claimant reported pain at 9/10, stabbing, aching, burning quality, radiating down from her elbow to her wrist.  Objectively, Claimant exhibited no swelling in her arm.  Dr. Hinman diagnosed sympathetically mediated pain over the elbow;  neuroma right wrist; neuritis right arm, medial and lateral epicondylitis; ganglion, right wrist.  Claimant would see Dr. Hinman several more times in 2008, obtaining similar diagnoses.  On April 21, 2008, he renewed Claimant’s prescriptions for Methadone, Prozac, Ambien, and Ativan.
  

83.
Dr. Vermillion reevaluated Claimant on January 9, 2008.  He ordered an MRI of Claimant’s elbow and of the wrist to enable him to define the anatomy of these areas and determine if anything could be done.  He again indicated he would not perform surgery until Claimant completely quit smoking.

84.
On January 15, 2008, an MRI of Claimant's right elbow revealed the proximal aspect of the common extensor tendon was high end signal, suggesting tendinosis, without a frank tear.
  An MRI of Claimant's right wrist identified an 11 x 6 x 15 mm mass compatible with a ganglionic cyst of the lateral aspect of the wrist, possibly communicating with the radioscaphoid joint.

85.
On April 22, 2008, Dr. Vermillion stated in his chart note Claimant’s report of no change in the pain in her right elbow and right wrist area.   The doctor suggested debridement of her right lateral epicondyle and right wrist first dorsal compartment, but reiterated he would not do so until she had stopped smoking.

86.
On April 25, 2008, during Claimant’s psychotherapy session with Connie Judd, she stated to Ms. Judd that a “prehearing for workers comp yesterday seems to have triggered a pain flare up.”
 Ms. Judd renewed Claimant’s prescriptions for Prozac, Ambien, and Ativan and directed her to continue self-regulation skills for pain management.  Ms. Judd’s assessment was: “Dysthymia improved but persists secondary to pain syndromes. No psychopharmacotherapy changes indicated.  Pain Disorder with both psychological factors and a general medical condition [CRPS, scar neuroma].”
  Claimant appears not to have told Ms. Judd Dr. Hinman had renewed her prescriptions for Prozac, Ambien and Ativan just four days before.

87.
On June 18, 2008, Ms. Connie Judd noted Claimant’s pain management would soon be transferred from Dr. Hinman to Dr. Stinson.  Ms. Judd reported Claimant’s target symptoms at that time were chronic insomnia intermittently controlled with medications, intermittent anxiety two to three times per week, and depression that had started around November 2004 a few months after she had had surgery and the “insurance company was ‘harassing’ her.”
   

88.
On July 21, 2008, during an appointment with Ms. Judd for individual psychotherapy and medicine management, Claimant expressed her amazement at the “misinterpretation of data and misreporting of data” in IME reports and the “illegal techniques used by the … private investigator….”
   Ms. Judd theorized in her Assessment following this interview that Claimant’s symptoms “may be better explained by a Mood or Bipolar Disorder, NOS, Pain Disorder with both psychological factors….”  She renewed Claimant’s prescriptions for Prozac and Ativan and added a prescription for Hydroxyzine for sleep.”
   The plan for the next session was to review a psychiatric evaluation by Dr. Holladay and further discuss mood stabilizers.

89.
On August 6, 2008, Claimant was evaluated by physical therapist Patrick Minder.
 Mr. Minder noted “Right upper extremity is within normal limits for all movements of the shoulder, elbow and wrist. However, she reports pain at the elbow with full extension, and wrist pain with full wrist extension.”  Mr. Minder opined Claimant’s wrist pain was possibly due to ganglion irritating her tendon.   Mr. Minder recommended a treatment plan with gentle exercises and passive range of motion.

90.
On September 2, 2008, Dr. Vermillion performed a surgical release of the first dorsal compartment of the right wrist, excised a ganglion cyst, and bathed the right lateral epicondylar area in platelet gel.  His Operative Report, however, notes that upon incising and exposing the right lateral epicondyle, it “looked completely normal.”  On exposing the first dorsal compartment, he found the tendons moved freely and “looked completely normal.”
 He testified that even with loupes (magnification glasses), he saw no signs of abnormality in the elbow or wrist during surgery.
  

At his deposition, Dr. Vermillion testified he saw no evidence during examination or surgery that Claimant manifested complex regional pain syndrome, and did not diagnose it.
  She did not exhibit any decreased sensation, so he did not diagnose radial sensory neuritis.
  He neither saw nor reported any evidence of scar tissue or neuroma.  

At the September 5, 2008, follow-up examination with Dr. Vermillion, Claimant reported significant improvement in her symptoms, including continued improvement in function of her right hand, upper extremity, and right elbow.

91.
In a September 15, 2008, letter to Ms. Thoeni, Dr. Vermillion stated the medical cause of the ganglion cyst was an outcropping of fluid in the volar aspect of Claimant’s wrist.   The cause of the fluid outcropping could have been pain and overuse or other difficulties in the wrist, which Dr. Vermillion determined would be difficult to relate to Claimant’s August 4, 2003, report of a cumulative work injury.  At deposition, he testified the right wrist ganglion he excised could have been a cause of her wrist pain,
  but that he also could not attribute the ganglion cyst to Claimant’s employment.
  Dr. Vermillion did opine, however, that the “medical cause of the employee’s lateral epicondylitis is most likely due to overuse and a workstation environment.”
  

92.
On September 28, 2008, during a physical therapy evaluation for right shoulder pain, Claimant stated she was pursuing a workers’ compensation claim related to her right upper extremity.   She was not referred to post-surgery physical therapy for her right elbow or right wrist at that time.  She reported her shoulder pain at rest was 2/10 and with use was 7/10 on a pain scale of 1-10.  The therapist’s objective observations, however, were that Claimant had “normal transitional movements of the right upper extremity with the arms held at the side…. but with guarding and apprehension….”
  The physical therapist also noted Claimant had normal sensation throughout her shoulder region and that her deep tendon reflexes of the biceps were within normal limits.
 

93.
On October 29, 2008, physical therapist Patrick Minder, PT, reported Claimant had been attending physical therapy “on a regular [basis] and is progressing quite well.”
  Claimant reported increased functional use of her right arm with less pain, with, however, “occasional significant flairs of pain associated with increased activity.”

94.
On November, 5, 2008, Dr. Vermillion, in a post-operative examination of Claimant noted that she had no pain in her tennis elbow and that although she had pain in her wrist, her wounds were completely healed and her motion was improving.  The doctor anticipated Claimant might be able to increase activity at her six-week examination.

95.
On November 17, 2008, in her psychotherapy treatment with Connie Judd, Claimant complained she had been accused by Employer’s attorney of manipulating Ms. Judd.
   Claimant also stated her 38-year-old daughter had recently died in Florida.  Ms. Judd’s assessment was “Dysthymia overall improved with combined pharmacotherapy and psychotherapy…. recurrent depressive moods and insomnia may be better explained by a Mood Disorder, NOS …. Pain Disorder with both psychological factors and a general medical condition related to the DQ type pain in right arm and epicondylitis, currently post-surgical repair …. Nicotine dependence, partial remission, perhaps one day.”
  Ms. Judd renewed Claimant’s prescriptions for Ambien, Prozac, Vitamin D and Ativan.

96.
On December 1, 2008, the physical therapist anticipated Claimant would be discharged from physical therapy and begin an independent exercise program by the end of December.
  

97.
On December 2, 2008, Dr. Fuller issued a supplemental report after reviewing additional medical records provided to him by the Employer.  Dr. Fuller commented specifically on Dr. Vermillion’s surgical and post-surgical records, and his September 15, 2008, response to questions posed by Ms. Thoeni, stating that in his opinion the medical records did not support Dr. Vermillion’s assertions that the Claimant’s ganglion cysts, lateral epicondylitis, and medial elbow pain were from overuse at work or an abnormal work station environment.
  

In Dr. Fuller’s opinion, Dr. Vermillion’s records were deficient in “never stating her medial elbow pain did not occur in a timely fashion relating to any of her work activities.”
  He opined that Dr. Vermillion’s notation the “tendon looked completely normal” is not consistent with a symptomatic DQ tenosynovitis and alleged disabling wrist pain.  That the lateral epicondyle also “looked completely normal,” opined Dr. Fuller, does not support Claimant’s allegation of disabling pain in her arm and elbow.  With respect to Dr. Vermillion’s responses to Ms. Thoeni’s written questions, Dr. Fuller noted several misstatements by Dr. Vermillion pertaining to Claimant’s medical records, including his assumption Claimant responded to nerve blocks, which Dr. Fuller stated the records showed she did not, and his belief Dr. McNamara had failed to release a second tendon, which Dr. McNamara did in fact do.    

Dr. Fuller stated the additional medical records provided to him did not change his prior opinions, noting in particular that the records of Claimant’s time at St. Mary’s Hospital indicate Claimant “using her right arm normally.”
  The nurse’s notes state Claimant “writes down requests,” while she had her left arm temporarily disabled by the intravenous line.

98.
At a December 15, 2008, session with Claimant, Ms. Judd noted Claimant’s recurrent depressive moods and insomnia “may be better explained by a Mood Disorder, NOS which have thus far responded fairly well to antidepressants and benzodiazepines.

99.
On December 17, 2008, Claimant reported to Tracie Rieker, PA-C, in a follow-up examination for her lateral epicondylitis, tendinitis, de Quervain disease, and right volar wrist ganglion on the right side.  She reported she was doing well, with occasional pain “if she used her wrist too much.”  Claimant she did not wish to address the medial epicondyle in PT, stating she was able to manage it herself conservatively.  Ms. Rieker noted the lateral epicondyle was “nontender to palpation.”
 

100.
On January 5, 2009, Claimant’s chief complaint to Ms. Judd during a psychotherapy and medical management session was: “upset that non medical people can decide what goes into her medical records being sent to the SIME psychiatrist” and “distress regarding repetitive video surveillance, esp since they make errors and edit out so much.”
  Claimant expressed anxiety about a pending workers compensation proceeding at which she was to speak without counsel.   Ms. Judd renewed Claimant’s prescriptions for Ambien, Prozac, Vitamin D, and Ativan.  

101.
On February 3, 2009, Claimant speculated to Ms. Judd her chronic fatigue and depression might be related to menopause.
 Ms. Judd started a prescription of Abilify to assist with depression and renewed Claimant’s prescriptions for Ambien, Prozac, Vitamin D and Ativan.

102.
On February 10, 2009, Ms. Judd noted Claimant’s mood seemed to be improving in response to Abilify; Claimant rated her depression on that date as “6” on a scale of 10.
   Claimant stated on February 23, 2009, that she had had a “significant positive mood change,” and she reported “that for the first time in years she is hoping to have a garden outside. … she thinks she can handle it physically.”
  Ms. Judd discussed work hardening “(which she is basically doing through joining a gym and swimming) and pacing.”

103.
On March 24, 2009, Claimant returned to Ms. Judd for psychotherapy and medical management.
   Claimant had recently returned from her March 17 trip to Denver for an SIME.  Ms. Judd’s assessment stated “… pain not focus of session there is ongoing anxiety related to coping with the workers comp process secondary to the work related events and injuries.”
  Ms. Judd continued Claimant’s prescriptions for Ambien, Ativan and Vitamin D, and increased Claimant’s prescription for Prozac.

104.
On June 5, 2009, Claimant asked Ms. Judd to write a letter addressing whether she was “medically stable” from a psychiatric perspective.
  Claimant also asked whether she had the “energy or attention to focus for jury duty.”  Ms. Judd opined that “given the increase in hypomanic symptoms” it would be best if jury duty were “delayed for now.”
  Ms. Judd wrote Claimant an excuse from jury duty, renewed Claimant’s prescriptions, and encouraged Claimant to continue her home exercise program.
  

105.
On April 21, 2009, Christopher Wilson, MD, of Colorado Hand & Arm, P.C., conducted a Second Independent Medical Evaluation of Claimant.  Dr. Wilson found “the ganglion cyst is an idiopathic condition, not related to her work activities.  There is no clear diagnosis of this ganglion cyst until January 2008, long after her work activities had ceased.”
  Dr. Wilson also opined that although “[i]t is unclear whether she has an actual neuroma of a branch of the sensory radial nerve … or if she has neuritis, with diminished function and irritation … due to surrounding scar tissue….”, that it was most likely due to treatment and prolonged splint wear and the three surgical procedures in that area.   Dr. Wilson opined any scar neuroma was related to Claimant’s work with the employer or the August 4, 2003, injury, or treatment related to the claimed injury.
   

Dr. Wilson also found Claimant’s lateral epicondylitis, any medial elbow pain, her Dequervain’s tenosynovitis, any CRPS, and medial epicondylitis were related to her work with Employer.
  However, he noted Claimant’s symptoms “have now significantly resolved and are medically stable, as a result of her treatment.”
  Dr. Wilson opined Claimant was medically stable on January 2, 2009, four months from the date of her last surgical procedure.  He found the treatment Claimant received promoted her recovery and enabled her to return to work.
  Dr. Wilson noted that during his examination he observed Claimant positioning, moving and using her right hand and upper extremity normally, with no  protective behavior of the right hand and upper extremity.  She had full range of motion of all right upper extremity joints and a normal bell-shaped curve on five-position grip strength testing.
  However, Dr. Wilson estimated Claimant’s permanent work restrictions would be “light category work with a 20 pound lifting and carrying restriction maximum on the right hand and upper extremity.”
  

106.
Walter Ling, MD, a specialist in neurology and psychiatry, evaluated Claimant on June 30, 2009, for a second independent medical evaluation (SIME) at the request of the Board.  His Axis I diagnosis was “Adjustment Disorder with Mixed Anxiety and Depressed Mood,”
 though he described it as “mild” and “residual.”
 He reported no Axis II diagnosis.  He testified his interview and examination of Claimant was of almost four hours duration.  He noted family history positive for depression, suicide and mood disorder.   Claimant’s parents divorced when she was four or five due to her father’s explosive temper, her mother became physically and emotionally abusive and she was sent to live with her maternal grandmother for a year and is not now close to her mother.  She married in 1970, but divorced in 1995 as her husband was gone for long periods in the Marine Corps and Coast Guard, and was emotionally unavailable.  She remains single and reportedly has a good relationship with her three children.  She denied any prior Workers’ Compensation claims or lawsuits, and any prior work-related issues or problems with coworkers.

On neurological examination he found all systems normal, including motor and sensory systems, and reflexes.  Dr. Ling concluded from a neurological standpoint she has no deficits in her upper extremities.
  On Mental Status Examination he found her thought and perception, memory and intellect, insight and judgment within normal limits.  With respect to orientation, mood and affect, Dr. Ling reported Claimant “anxious” and “angry” concerning the workers’ compensation litigation, and the opposing attorney, accusing them of “robbing her of several years of her life.”
  He noted she “ruminates” about being “stalked by videographers and about being called a malingerer and liar,” about being treated “nasty,” feels “manipulated and betrayed,” and is currently “preoccupied with winning  her case.”
  He noted only residual psychiatric symptoms in that she still needs medication for sleep, and is easily emotionally upset, but “virtually everything that she finds stressful relates to her case.”

Dr. Ling deferred to Claimant’s surgeons concerning Claimant’s ganglion cyst, epicondylitis, DQ tenosynovitis, and purported neuroma and CRPS. 
  He noted the pain she reported during her years of treatment should be evaluated as part of these conditions, and do not require a separate and independent rating.
  He reserved his opinions solely to Claimant’s psychiatric condition.

Dr. Ling noted her psychiatric condition has gone by many names coined by numerous physicians.  He noted “in the beginning,” though when the beginning was he didn’t specify, it was legitimate to view  her emotional upheavals as an adjustment to the difficulties that were taking place in her work environment.  He agreed with the initial diagnosis of Adjustment Disorder, and noted as her medical conditions became chronic, the stress relating to the chronicity of her condition, her inability to work, and her interaction with the carrier and the Workers’ Compensation system perpetuated her symptoms.
  

Dr. Ling responded to the relevant SIME question as follows:

Q:  Did the August 4, 2003 injury aggravate, accelerate, combine with a pre-existing condition to produce the need for medical treatment or the employee’s disability?

A:    Yes, I do believe that her disability is attributable to the activities of her employment and while she may have some symptoms pre-dating the assigned date of injury, her complaints appear to have arisen in the context of her work over time.  Therefore one has to accept that her work activities either caused or aggravated her symptoms.
  (italics added).

PRINCIPLES OF LAW

AS 23.30.010.  Coverage.  Compensation is payable under this chapter in respect of disability or death of an employee.   

Whether employment causes an injury or aggravates, accelerates or combines with a pre-existing condition to cause a disability, the injury is compensable and the employee is entitled to compensation and benefits.

AS 23.30.041(n)  After the employee has elected to participate in reemployment benefits, if the employer believes the employee has not cooperated, the employer may terminate reemployment benefits on the date of noncooperation.  Noncooperation means


(1)  unreasonable failure to



(A)  keep appointments;



(B)  maintain passing grades;



(C)  attend designated programs;



(D)  maintain contact with the rehabilitation specialist;



(E) cooperate with the rehabilitation specialist in developing a reemployment plan and participating in activities relating to reemployability on a full-time basis;



(F)  comply with the employee’s responsibilities outlined in the reemployment plan; or



(G)  participate in any planned reemployment activite as determined by the administrator;

AS 23.30.095.  Medical treatments, services, and examinations.  (a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to Claimant. . . .  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require. . . . 

Under the Act, an employer shall furnish an employee injured at work any medical treatment “which the nature of the injury or process of recovery requires” within the first two years of the injury.  The medical treatment must be “reasonable and necessitated” by the work-related injury.  Thus, when the Board reviews an injured employee's claim for medical treatment made within two years of an injury that is undisputably work-related, “its review is limited to whether the treatment sought is reasonable and necessary.”  Philip Weidner & Associates v. Hibdon, 989 P.2d 727, 730 (Alaska 1999).

AS 23.30.0120.  Presumptions.  (a)  In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. 
An injured worker is afforded a presumption the benefits she seeks are compensable.
 
AS 23.30.120(a) provides, in relevant part:  "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. . . ."  The Alaska Supreme Court held "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
  We utilize a three-step analysis when applying the presumption of compensability.
  

First, the claimant must establish a "preliminary link" between the claimed disability and her employment.  Evidence needed to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending upon the claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary to raise the presumption.
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  A claimant need only adduce “some,” “minimal,” relevant evidence
 establishing a “preliminary link” between benefits sought and the employment injury,
 or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability or impairment.
 The presumption of compensability continues during the course of the claimant’s recovery from the injury and disability.
  A pre-existing condition does not disqualify a claim if the employment aggravates, accelerates or combines with the pre-existing condition to produce the disability for which compensation is sought.”
  A substantial aggravation of an otherwise unrelated condition imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury bearing a causal relation to the disability.
  
At this first stage in our analysis we do not weigh the witnesses’ credibility.
   If we find such relevant evidence at this threshold step, the presumption attaches to the claim.  If the presumption is raised and not rebutted, Claimant need produce no further evidence and she prevails solely on the raised but un-rebutted presumption.
 

 Second, once the preliminary link is established and the presumption has attached to the claim, the burden of production shifts to the employer.  At this second stage the employer is called upon to overcome the presumption by producing “substantial evidence” the claimant’s injury was not related to her employment.
  "Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.

There are two methods for an employer to overcome the presumption of compensability:  (1) present substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work related factors as a substantial cause of Claimant’s disability; or (2) directly eliminate all reasonable possibilities that work was a factor in causing Claimant’s disabling condition or need for treatment.
  Thus, to rebut the presumption, the employer must produce substantial evidence that either (1) non-work-related events alone caused Claimant’s worsened condition, or (2) there was no possibility that employment was a factor in causing the disability.
  "Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion,” we examine the employer’s evidence in isolation,
 deferring questions of credibility and weight we give it until after we have decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption Claimant's injury entitles her to the benefits she seeks.
  

An employer may rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting a qualified expert who testifies Claimant’s work was probably not a substantial cause of the disability.
  However, medical evidence does not constitute substantial evidence if it simply points to other possible causes of an employee’s need for medical treatment or disability, without ruling out work-related causes.
  

In the third step in our analysis, if the employer produces substantial evidence the injury is not work-related, the presumption of continuing compensability for the claimed benefit drops out, and the claimant must prove all elements of her case by a “preponderance of the evidence.”
  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence must "induce a belief" in the mind of the fact-finder that the asserted facts are probably true.
 Where, as here, the work injury occurred prior to the November 7, 2005 effective date of the 2005 amendments to the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act, the claimed condition is compensable if the work injury was “a substantial factor” in bringing it about.
  The work is a substantial factor if:  (1) the condition would not have occurred at the time it did, in the way it did, or to the degree it did but for the work and (2) reasonable people would regard the work as a cause of the condition and attach responsibility to it.
  

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board's “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-534 (Alaska 1987).  “An employee's preexisting condition will not” relieve an employer from liability in a proper case (Id. at 534).  A finding disability would not have occurred “but for” employment may be supported not only by a doctor’s testimony, but inferentially from the fact that an injured worker had been able to continue working despite pain prior to the subject employment but required surgery after that employment. A finding reasonable persons would find employment was a cause of Claimant’s disability and impose liability is, “as are all subjective determinations, the most difficult to support.”  However, there is also no reason to suppose Board members who so find are either irrational or arbitrary. That “some reasonable persons may disagree with a subjective conclusion does not necessarily make that conclusion unreasonable” (Id.).

Consistent with AS 23.30.120(a) and cases construing its language, an injured employee may raise the presumption a claim for continuing treatment or care comes within the provisions of AS 23.30.095(a), and in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary this presumption will satisfy Claimant’s burden of proof as to whether continued treatment or care is medically indicated.
  

AS 23.30.122. Credibility of witnesses.  The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action…

AS 23.30.155.  Payment of compensation.
  (a) Compensation under this chapter shall be paid periodically, promptly, and directly to the person entitled to it, without an award, except where liability to pay compensation is controverted by the employer.  To controvert a claim, the employer must file a notice, on a form prescribed by the director, stating   
(1) that the right of the employee to compensation is controverted;

(2) the name of the employee;

(3) the name of the employer;

(4) the date of the alleged injury or death; and

(5) the type of compensation and all grounds upon which the right to compensation is controverted.

. . .

(d) If the employer controverts the right to compensation the employer shall file with the board and send to Claimant a notice of controversion on or before the 21st day after the employer has knowledge of the alleged injury or death.  If the employer controverts the right to compensation after payments have begun, the employer shall file with the board and send to the employee a notice of controversion within seven days after an installment of compensation payable without an award is due...

(e) If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it…  

(f)  If compensation payable under the terms of an award is not paid within 14 days after it becomes due, there shall be added to that unpaid compensation an amount equal to 20 percent of it, which shall be paid at the same time as, but in addition to, the compensation. . . .

(p) An employer shall pay interest on compensation that is not paid when due.  Interest required under this subsection accrues at the rate specified in AS 09.30.070(a) that is in effect on the date the compensation is due.

A controversion notice must be filed “in good faith” to protect an employer from a penalty.  Harp v. ARCO Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352, 358 (Alaska 1992).  “In circumstances where there is reliance by the insurer on responsible medical opinion or conflicting medical testimony, invocation of penalty provisions is improper.”  But when nonpayment results from “bad faith reliance on counsel’s advice, or mistake of law, the penalty is imposed.”  Stafford v. Westchester Fire Ins. Co. of New York,

 HYPERLINK "http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=661&FindType=Y&SerialNum=1974125485"  526 P.2d 37 (Alaska 1974).  See also 3 A. Larson, Larson's Workmen's Compensation Law § 83.41(b)(2) (1990) (“Generally a failure to pay because of a good faith belief that no payment is due will not warrant a penalty.”).  “For a controversion notice to be filed in good faith, the employer must possess sufficient evidence in support of the controversion that, if the claimant does not introduce evidence in opposition to the controversion, the Board would find that the claimant is not entitled to benefits.”  Harp at 358; citing Kerley v. Workmen's Comp. App. Bd.,

 HYPERLINK "http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=661&FindType=Y&ReferencePositionType=S&SerialNum=1971122777&ReferencePosition=205"  481 P.2d 200, 205 (Cal. 1971).  The evidence which the employer possessed “at the time of controversion” is the relevant evidence reviewed to determine its adequacy to avoid a penalty.  Harp at 358.  If none of the reasons given for a controversion is supported by sufficient evidence to warrant a Board decision Claimant is not entitled to benefits, the controversion was “made in bad faith and was therefore invalid” and a “penalty is therefore required” by AS 23.30.155 (id. at  359.)  An EME’s medical opinion is sufficient reason under Harp, 831 P.2d at 358, for a “good-faith controversion.”

AS 23.30.185. Compensation for temporary total disability.  In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to Claimant during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

In Vetter v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board,
 the Alaska Supreme Court stated: “The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment.  An award for compensation must be supported by a finding that the claimant suffered a compensable disability, or more precisely, a decrease in earning capacity due to a work-connected injury or illness.”

AS 23.30.190.  Compensation for permanent partial impairment; rating guides.  (a)  In case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality. . . the  compensation is $177,000 multiplied by Claimant's percentage of permanent  impairment of the whole person. The compensation is payable in a single lump sum, except as otherwise provided in AS 23.30.041 . . . .

(b) All determinations of the existence and degree of permanent impairment shall be made strictly and solely under the whole person determination as set out in the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment . . . .

(c) The impairment rating determined under (a) of this section shall he reduced by a permanent impairment that existed before the compensable injury.

AS  23.30.395.  Definitions.  In this chapter,…

. . .


AS 23.30.395 (10) "disability" means incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which Claimant was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment.” 
   


AS 23.30.395 (21) “medical stability” means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence….
  

In Jones v. Frontier Flying Service, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission explained that once an employee attaches the presumption of compensability for a temporary total disability claim, the employer may attach the presumption of medical stability by producing substantial evidence the employee’s condition has had no objectively measurable improvement for 45 days.  The employee may then rebut the presumption of medical stability by “clear and convincing evidence.”  The Commission wrote:

Because the employee may attach a presumption of compensability of a claim for temporary total disability, an employer in turn may produce substantial evidence, (i.e., such evidence that a reasonable mind could accept as adequate to support a conclusion), that the employee’s condition has had no objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days. In effect, such evidence rebuts the “temporary” element of the employee’s claim for temporary total disability. By producing such evidence, the employer raises in turn a presumption of medical stability, which the employee may rebut by producing “clear and convincing” evidence. Alternatively, an employer may produce substantial evidence that the employee is not totally disabled; such evidence will overcome a presumption that the claim for temporary total disability is compensable, but it will not raise a presumption of medical stability. 

Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by clear and convincing evidence, there must be induced a belief that the truth of the asserted facts is highly probable.  Denuptius v. Unocal Corp., 63 P.3d 272, 275 at n. 3 (Alaska 2003).

8 AAC 45.142. Interest. (a) If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in. . . AS 09.30.070(a) for an injury that occurred on or after July 1, 2000.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid. If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.

The AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, Sixth Edition, define the terms  “objective,” and “subjective,” in the health care realm as:

“Objective”  In healthcare, objective refers to something, usually a physical finding or diagnostic test result, that can be perceived by an examiner using one or more senses without patient input…objective means based on observation or other data, and uninfluenced by one’s attitudes, beliefs, biases, emotions, and/or prejudices.

“Subjective”  In healthcare, refers to that which is perceived, reported, and/or demonstrated by a patient but cannot be verified by an examiner on physical examination or via diagnostic tests.  The adjective is most commonly used in the context of symptoms such as pain, but many physical findings are also subjective, including tenderness, range of motion, and strength.  Tenderness or the absence thereof depends on verbal or nonverbal input from the patient…subjective means colored by one’s attitudes, beliefs, biases, emotions, and/or prejudices.

ANALYSIS

1.
Was Claimant’s employment a substantial factor in causing DeQuervain’s tenosynovitis, right wrist?  If so, when did she attain medical stability?

Employer concedes Claimant has met her burden of production and raised the presumption her employment was a substantial factor in causing her DQ tenosynovitis, right wrist.
  By substantial evidence, namely the February 20, 2006 EME report of Drs. Stephen Fuller and Gerald Reimer,  Employer has rebutted the presumption Claimant’s DQ tenosynovitis was anything more than a temporary exacerbation of a preexisting condition, which had resolved by September 10, 2003, and for which Claimant has been fully compensated.  At the third stage of the presumption analysis, the burden of proof then shifts to Claimant.  

Claimant has failed to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence her work was a substantial factor in either bringing about or aggravating a preexisting DQ tenosynovitis of her right wrist, necessitating surgery to release her right first dorsal compartment tendon.  According to Dr. Kase’s medical records, Claimant complained of right DQ symptoms at least as early as 2000.   When she presented to the Shemya Clinic on August 4, 2003, she admitted to a ten year history of intermittent, controlled, right thumb and wrist problems.  Although Claimant now denies any history of prior problems with her right wrist, the August 4, 2003, medical record and the workers’ compensation records reflecting Claimant having made a prior workers’ compensation claim for right wrist DQ tenosynovitis, are more reliable sources of information pertaining to Claimant’s right wrist problems than is Claimant. 

The statements recorded by Dana Campbell, ANP, the medical provider at the clinic, were recorded for purposes of medical diagnosis and treatment.  No reason has been demonstrated why they would be other than a medical provider’s contemporaneous recording of Claimant’s physical complaints at that time.  On the other hand, based on Findings of Fact 1 through 4 above, Claimant was not credible when she testified at both her deposition and at hearing she had never reported problems with her right wrist or arm until her employment with CESS.  While Dr. Kase does not appear to have treated Claimant for right wrist DQ, his chart notes, as well as the physical therapy notes, demonstrate Claimant complained of DQ symptoms on the right, as well as a ganglion cyst on the right, in January and February, 1999, five months after leaving her employment with Alaska Cleaners.  From the C & R in that case, it is evident Claimant was making a claim for right wrist problems, which the employer disputed.  It was her claim with respect to her right wrist which formed the basis for the parties’ stipulation to an SIME.  Ultimately, the C & R in that case included her waiver of any future claim for any benefits for her right wrist.   Claimant was unconvincing in her assertion of ignorance of the terms of that 
C & R.  

Claimant’s lack of veracity in this and other assertions pertaining to her right upper extremity pervade this case. The January 26, December 12 and December 14, 2006 surveillance videotapes, in conjunction with Claimant’s sworn deposition testimony on December 14, 2006, and March 9, 2007, is convincing evidence to the Board panel of Claimant’s untruthfulness throughout these proceedings.  At her deposition on December 14, 2006, Claimant testified she has been in constant pain “24/7” since August, 2003.  She swore her pain was so great she could not lift her arm to take the oath; she has to cradle her right against her body daily to protect it due to pain; she is unable to hold a 12-ounce cup of coffee, or unscrew the cap from a bottle of water; she is unable to use her dominant right arm when shopping or carrying anything; she always uses her left arm, not her right, to open a car door; and her pain was so great on December 14, 2006, a 9.5 out of 10 on a ten point pain scale, she had to end the deposition early, and went home to bed for the rest of the day.

In stark contrast to Claimant’s testimony, two days before, as well as immediately following the deposition on December 14, Claimant was filmed doing all of the things she swore she could not do.  On December 12 she used her right hand while shopping and carrying items at a department store, and unlocked her car and trunk doors with her right hand.  She lifted a water bottle with her right hand and arm.  Though claiming she could not twist open the cap from a water bottle, she twisted the gas cap on and off to fuel her car with her right hand.  She removed the gas pump hose and nozzle with her right hand and arm, and returned them to the cradle with her right hand and arm when done.  On December 14, immediately following her proclaimed inability to simply raise her right hand to swear an oath, she reached and retrieved an envelope from her windshield with her right arm and hand, then reached overhead to insert it in her sun visor.  She lifted her arm to smoke a cigarette, lifted her hand and arm to grasp a handbag, and used her arm to reach behind her while holding the bag aloft, in order to place it on the rear seat of the car.  According to Dr. Fuller, the January 26, 2006 video surveillance demonstrates Claimant’s right elbow, wrist and thumb were functioning normally and without pain.  According to Dr. Glass, the video surveillance is evidence of malingering.

The questionable nature of Claimant’s subjective reports of continuing right arm and wrist pain are also apparent  from the medical records and testimony of several examiners, including some of her own treating physicians, who found her reporting inconsistent with physical findings, and her complaints magnified out of proportion to the procedures Claimant underwent.  

Claimant’s absence of candor is further evident from her apparent efforts to manipulate both her medical providers and medical records for apparent secondary gain.  As early as 1999, Claimant terminated her relationship with Dr. Harry Cole, who she was seeing for left wrist problems purportedly resulting from her employment with Alaska Cleaners, when he refused to provide her with a note stating she could not drive to Anchorage from her home in Palmer, when the employer offered her light duty.  She obtained the requested work release from Dr. Kase and so switched her care to him.  When, in 2005, Dr. Beard refused to provide Claimant with a “handicapped” authorization allowing her to use privileged parking spaces, she requested and received a referral to someone other than Dr. Beard.   When Dr. McNamara noted on July 5, 2005, Claimant would likely be medically stable by August 22, 2005, on August 9, 2005, she  began complaining of medial elbow pain.  

On September 19, 2005, Claimant reported to Ms. Judd an impending “threat of controversion,” which could result in her TTD ending.  On September 20, 2005, she asked PA-C Thomas if she was yet “medically stable,” the point at which her TTD would cease. After he replied in the affirmative, she obtained her chart notes from Dr. McNamara’s office, and sought numerous additions or amendments to them, including changing her comments suggesting improvement to ones of pain, prompting Dr. McNamara to terminate their relationship.  She made a similar request of Dr. Prieto at that time, who found her request that he add a diagnosis of medial epicondylitis to his chart notes, and comment unfavorably on Dr. Kase’s surgery, unfounded and refused to make the changes she was seeking.  

At the December 14, 2006 deposition Claimant also testified that with the exception of her employment in Shemya, and visits to her mother in Arizona, she had not been away from her home in Palmer for more than a month in the preceding 18 years.  Yet she later admitted, and the evidence is clear, Claimant was in Florida for four months, from early April, 2006, until early August, 2006, during which time she also traveled to a girlfriend’s wedding in Las Vegas, went yachting with a boyfriend to the Bahamas, and was hospitalized with an infection requiring weeks of hospitalization, each a memorable event standing alone, and not credibly forgotten at a deposition just a few months later.  Claimant’s efforts to explain away her numerous discrepancies, suggesting her pain, her pain medications, or her depression were responsible for any lapses in her memory, and she was never intentionally untruthful, were unpersuasive. 

After her admission to Ms. Campbell of a long history of right wrist and thumb complaints on August 4, 2003, on her next leave from Shemya she sought further medical care from Dr. Kase, who she had seen for her left wrist DQ tenosynovitis in 1999.  Dr. Kase also diagnosed right DQ tenosynovitis, and recommended conservative care, including anti-inflammatory medication, use of a thumb splint, and physical therapy to include ultrasound, heat and ice, 3 times per week for 2 weeks.  Claimant attended all three PT sessions the first week of physical therapy, according to the PT notes, with the modalities also including range of motion and strengthening as appropriate.  She was provided with written instructions for PT to do independently, including stretching exercises, advice on splinting and icing, and she acknowledged her understanding of the treatment plan she would continue independently.  She did not follow up for the second week of PT, and returned to Shemya the week following.  She did not return to Dr. Kase in November or December as she was instructed to do if her symptoms persisted.

There are no further records of right wrist complaints until Claimant reported to the Valley Hospital Emergency Room on June 28, 2004, two months after leaving CESS’ employ in April, 2004, two months into a computer data entry position with Nye Toyota, and almost ten months since her treatment in September 2003, without any further complaint of ongoing right upper extremity pain.  

None of Claimant’s treating physicians attributed Claimant’s recurring right DQ tenosynovitis to her work for CESS.  Dr. Beard, in fact, rejected the notion.  In his September 15, 2008 letter to Ms. Thoeni, Dr. Vermillion does not attribute the DQ tenosynovitis to Claimant’s work for CESS, and his equivocal response at deposition is accorded no weight.  When asked whether her DQ tenosynovitis was a result of her typing and data entry for CESS, Dr. Vermillion first stated it probably was, but immediately retreated from that assertion to his earlier position with respect to medial epicondylitis, stating he had not seen Claimant at the time of the work injury, he couldn’t “co-relate” that, she had had a previous surgery before the one he performed (she had in fact had two), “so there had been a lot of water under the bridge per se.”
  

Dr. Wilson’s opinion is accorded less weight in that it relied heavily on Claimant’s self-reporting to him that her pain continued unabated from the time she began conservative treatment in September, 2003, and Claimant is an unreliable historian.  Where a physician does not give serious consideration to problems with an employee’s credibility, or other evidence in the record establishing an employee was presenting a less than truthful version of events, the opinions rendered as a result are no more reliable than the erroneous information provided to them, and will be accorded less weight.

Based on the medical records, the medical evidence, and the explanations and opinions of Dr. Fuller, the more persuasive evidence is Claimant’s DQ pre-existing tenosynovitis resolved after the conservative treatment initiated by Ms. Campbell in August, 2003, and continued by Dr. Kase in September, 2003, she attained medical stability following the PT ordered by Dr. Kase, and returned to her pre-injury status, which was transient episodes of right thumb and wrist pain.  

2.
Was Claimant’s employment a substantial factor in causing right lateral epicondylitis?  If so, when did she attain medical stability?

Employer concedes Claimant has met her burden of production and raised the presumption her employment was a substantial factor in causing her right lateral epicondylitis, right wrist.
  By substantial evidence Employer has rebutted the presumption through the February 20, 2006 EME report of Drs. Stephen Fuller and Gerald Reimer, who, from their record review, opined Claimant’s right lateral epicondylitis was not work-related.  The basis for this opinion was Claimant’s failure to seek medical attention for any continuing elbow problem after initial report on February 6, 2003, until July, 2004.  At the third stage of the presumption analysis, the burden of proof then shifts to Claimant.  

Claimant has failed to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence her employment for CESS was a substantial factor in her need for medical treatment or disability due to right lateral epicondyle pain after February 6, 2003.  Although Dr. Fuller failed to note in his February 20, 2006 EME report that Claimant had been treated at the Shemya Clinic for right lateral epicondyle pain on February 6, 2003, and he later attributed the reported tennis elbow at that time to Claimant’s use of the Nautilus machines during her work outs at Shemya, Dr. Fuller is correct in noting that Claimant made no further complaints of elbow pain to any of her several providers after the report on February 6, 2003, despite her continuing to seek medical attention for her right wrist, until July, 2004. 

There is no mention of elbow pain in subsequent Shemya Clinic records, or in Dr. Kase’s chart note from Claimant’s initial visit with him in September 8, 2003.  Sharry Christianson, a co-worker in the data entry department on Shemya, recalled Claimant’s complaints of pain in her hands and wrists, but remembered no complaints by Claimant of elbow pain.
 Mary McCully, another co-worker in the data entry department on Shemya, recalled Claimant’s complaints about her “wrists,” “hands” and “arms,” but mentioned no complaints by Claimant of any elbow pain.  When Claimant presented at the Valley Hospital Emergency Room on June 28, 2004, complaining of right wrist pain, she denied other complaints.  

The next reference to pain in Claimant’s right lateral epicondyle does not appear until a July 5, 2004 office visit with Dr. Kase, seventeen months after the one report of right elbow pain in February, 2003, three months after Claimant left CESS’ employ, and two months after Claimant began a data entry position at Nye Toyota.  Dr. Fuller convincingly reported that right lateral epicondylitis resolves when the activity causing it stops.  While Drs. Fuller and Reimer attribute the right lateral epicondylitis to Claimant’s Nautilus work outs, it appears from the medical records Claimant herself attributed the elbow pain to lifting dishes off of a conveyor belt when she was still a food service worker for CESS.  After Claimant left food service work, according to the medical records, and was no longer lifting dishes off of a conveyor, she no longer complained of right elbow pain during her employment with CESS.   

Based on the medical records, the medical evidence, and the explanations and opinions of Dr. Fuller, and because Claimant’s right elbow complaint did not resurface until seventeen months after a single report of injury, three months after leaving CESS’ employ, two months of data entry with Nye Toyota, and presumably activities of daily living, the more persuasive evidence is Claimant’s right lateral epicondylitis resolved after the conservative treatment initiated at Shemya Clinic in February, 2003, and after Claimant ceased lifting dishes off of the conveyor when she moved from CESS’ food service to production control, and cannot reasonably be attributed to her employment with CESS.  Dr. Vermillion’s and Dr. Wilson’s opinions to the contrary are unpersuasive in that neither has explained how the right lateral epicondylitis can be attributed to Claimant’s employment when it was asymptomatic for seventeen months, and did not appear until after five months after Claimant left CESS’ employ.

3.
Was Claimant’s employment a substantial factor in causing right medial epicondylitis?  If so, when did she attain medical stability?

Employer concedes Claimant has met her burden of production and raised the presumption her employment was a substantial factor in causing her right medial epicondylitis.
  By substantial evidence Employer has rebutted the presumption through the February 20, 2006 EME report of Drs. Stephen Fuller and Gerald Reimer, who note Claimant’s subjective complaints of medial epicondyle pain did not appear until July, 2005, some thirteen months after she left CESS’ employ, and after undertaking another data entry position with Nye Toyota in May, 2004, and presumably activities of daily living.  At the third stage of the presumption analysis, the burden of proof then shifts to Claimant.  

Claimant has failed to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence her employment for CESS was a substantial factor in bringing about any right medial epicondyle pain.  Claimant never complained of medial epicondyle pain until July, 2005, thirteen months after leaving CESS employ, as she neared “medical stability,” and thus the end of TTD, from the surgery performed by Dr. McNamara.  None of Claimant’s treating physicians attributed medial epicondylitis, if they even diagnosed it, to Claimant’s employment with CESS.  PA-C Thomas’ August 2005 diagnosis of medial epicondylitis was based only on Claimant’s subjective complaints of pain and Claimant is not a credible witness.  Objectively, Mr. Thomas found Claimant had full and symmetrical range of motion in pronation and supination, and full flexion and extension.  On November 9, 2005, Dr. Prieto resisted Claimant’s request to amend his earlier diagnosis to include medial epicondylitis. On December 15, 2005, Dr. Beard found Claimant’s reported tenderness at the medial epicondyle inconsistent in that on different types of testing of the medial epicondyle, she did not consistently report tenderness.  Based on this, and other inconsistencies, Dr. Beard concluded Claimant was magnifying her symptoms.
  Dr. Vermillion also could not attribute Claimant’s medial epicondylitis to her employment with CESS.

Dr. Wilson found no physical evidence of medial epicondylitis.  In his written SIME report, Dr. Wilson’s unpersuasive one word affirmative response to the SIME question “[I]s the medial elbow pain related to the employee’s work with the employer…or any treatment the employee received?” was not clarified at his deposition.  Rather, he admitted the diagnosis of medial epicondylitis in Claimant’s medical records would have been based on Claimant’s subjective reports of pain on palpation.  

Further diminishing the weight of Dr. Wilson’s response is his attributing any medial epicondylitis to a “chronic” regional pain syndrome.  Claimant was never diagnosed with a “chronic” regional pain syndrome.  If Dr. Wilson’s attribution is to the CRPS, or “complex” regional pain syndrome, diagnosed by Dr. Jon Hinman on August 21, 2007 and September 5, 2007, as set out below, neither objective or persuasive medical evidence supports a finding Claimant suffered CRPS.  Indeed, the EMG studies conducted by Dr. Johnston found no neuropathy to support Claimant’s subjective reports of pain.  And after receiving Dr. Johnston’s EMG report, Dr. Vermillion dropped his provisional “impression” of CRPS, which he based on Claimant’s reported history of subjective complaints of unrelenting pain, to medial/lateral epicondylitis, DQ tenosynovitis, and ganglion cyst.

The overwhelming weight of credible and persuasive testimony and evidence demonstrates that if Claimant indeed ever suffered a medial epicondylitis, it was unrelated to her work for Employer.
4.
Was Claimant’s employment a substantial factor in causing Claimant to develop a ganglion cyst?  If so, when did she attain medical stability?

Employer concedes Claimant has met her burden of production and raised the presumption her employment was a substantial factor in causing her to develop a ganglion cyst.
  By substantial evidence Employer has rebutted the presumption through the April 23, 2008 EME report of Dr. Stephen Fuller, who opined Claimant’s work for CESS was not a substantial factor in Claimant’s developing a cyst in 2008.  At the third stage of the presumption analysis, the burden of proof then shifts to Claimant.  

Claimant has failed to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence her employment for CESS was a substantial factor in bringing about a ganglion cyst.  None of Claimant’s treating physicians attributed a ganglion cyst to Claimant’s employment with CESS.  Evident from Dr. Kase’s medical records is Claimant had a probable right wrist ganglion cyst in 1999, long before her employment with CESS began.  Of greater significance is the fact no ganglion existed in May, 2005, when Dr. McNamara performed a right DQ release.  Dr. Wilson too noted there was no clear diagnosis by any treating physician a ganglion cyst truly existed until January 2008, long after Claimant’s work activities for CESS had ceased.  Dr. Wilson stated with no uncertainty, the ganglion cyst was an idiopathic condition, and was not work-related.

 5.
Was Claimant’s employment a substantial factor in causing Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CRPS), “neuritis,” or scar neuroma?  If so, when did she attain medical stability?

Employer concedes Claimant has met her burden of production and raised the presumption her employment was a substantial factor in causing CPRS, “neuritis,” and/or scar neuroma.
  By substantial evidence Employer has rebutted the presumption through the deposition of EME neurologist Gerald Reimer, MD, who opined Claimant evidenced no signs of CRPS Type 1 or Type 2, or of scar neuroma, when he examined her on February 20, 2006; and through the testimony of Dr. Stephen Fuller, who opined that from his physical examination of Claimant on February 20, 2006, he was unable to elicit any neuroma response; and from his review of the record as a whole, found no persuasive evidence Claimant ever suffered CRPS or neuritis.  At the third stage of the presumption analysis, the burden of proof then shifts to Claimant.  

Claimant has failed to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence her employment for CESS was a substantial factor in bringing about any CRPS, neuritis or neuroma, if any such conditions ever truly existed.  None of Claimant’s treating physicians, if they even diagnosed one of the conditions, opined it was caused by Claimant’s employment with CESS.  

SIME orthopedist Dr. Wilson testified Claimant’s “chronic” regional pain syndrome started after Dr. Kase’s surgical procedure on July 13, 2004.
  He testified her “sensory radial neuritis,” began after the surgery Dr. McNamara performed in May, 2005.
  Notably, none of Claimant’s treating physicians ever diagnosed a “chronic” regional pain syndrome, or a “sensory radial neuritis,” as did Dr. Wilson.

On the contrary, in January, 2005, Dr. Joella Beard, a physical medicine and rehabilitation specialist, wrote she did not believe Claimant had CRPS, and her physical exam led her to conclude Claimant was magnifying her complaints of pain.  On physical examination following the surgery performed by Dr. McNamara, PA-C Thomas, in June, 2005, indicated Claimant’s motor and sensory function were intact, as was her neurovascular status.
 Dr. Prieto, to whom Claimant was referred for pain management, testified he saw none of the objective signs of CRPS, and not only did she not present to him as suffering CRPS, her presentation was one of symptom magnification.  In January, 2006, Dr. Polston, based on Claimant’s reports of pain, suggested her subjective complaints stemmed from a scar neuroma status post wrist and elbow surgery, not CRPS.  But on physical examination he found Claimant had full excursion of the abductor pollicus longus tendons, without any crepitus or scar formation or build up.  

SIME neurologist Dr. Ling, offered no opinion on causation of any Complex Regional Pain Symdrome, neuritis or neuroma, other than to defer to Claimant’s surgeons.  And none of her surgeons: not Dr. Kase, Dr. McNamara nor Dr. Vermillion, ever diagnosed CRPS, neuritis or neuroma.  Dr. Ling did, however, explain a neuroma does not resolve on its own, yet neither Dr. McNamara nor Dr. Vermillion ever noted any signs of neuroma.    

Dr. McNamara’s Operative Report shows no evidence of neuroma detected in either Claimant’s right wrist or elbow.  Dr. Vermillion testified he saw no evidence of neuroma when he incised Claimant’s wrist and elbow.  At his deposition he testified he never saw any signs of a “radial sensory neuritis,” (RSD) and did not diagnose it.  When asked if RSD could result from surgery, he testified he was “not an expert in radial sensory neuritis,” and didn’t know.
   Dr. Vermillion’s reference to CRPS and neuropathy when he first saw Claimant on May 22, 2007, was a rule-out “impression” only, which he quickly discarded when the EMG studies he ordered came back negative for neuropathy. He never diagnosed CRPS, neuritis, or neuroma.  Dr. Fuller was also persuasive in his reporting that a patient with CRPS or similar pain complaint about her hand and arm could not tolerate insertion of an IV in the painful extremity, such as Claimant had during her hospitalization in Florida.    

The first actual CRPS diagnosis, which is “complex” regional pain syndrome, not “chronic” regional pain syndrome as Dr. Wilson incorrectly referred to it, appears in a medical record from Dr. Jon Hinman on August 10, 2007, but appears to have been based upon Claimant’s telling him she “has a diagnosis of CRPS,” and on her continuing subjective complaints of “stabbing, aching, pins and needles,” which he was previously diagnosing as scar neuroma.  Notably, on August 10, 2007, when Claimant told Dr. Hinman she had a diagnosis of CRPS,  Dr. Vermillion had not only ruled out CRPS, but Claimant had likely been told as much at her June 20, 2007 EMG follow-up appointment.  

By Claimant’s December 19, 2007 visit to Dr. Hinman, he was no longer diagnosing Claimant’s subjective complaints as CRPS, but as neuritis, neuroma formation at the right elbow, medial and lateral epicondylitis, and ganglion right wrist.  Dr. Vermillion’s diagnosis at that time was only a possible right wrist ganglion, and mediolateral epicondylitis.
 He saw no manifestations of CRPS.
  By February 18, 2008, Dr. Hinman’s diagnosis of Claimant’s continuing complaints, after MRI, was reduced to ganglion cyst right wrist, and scar neuroma right elbow.  

Dr. Vermillion’s September 15, 2008 response to Ms. Thoeni’s written questions, suggesting Claimant did suffer CRPS because Dr. Hinman diagnosed it, and because “it appears she responded to the blocks,” is unpersuasive in light of Dr. Hinman’s reporting her responses to one injection and one block were of fleeting duration, the first lasting only until the anesthetic wore off, the second reportedly lasting only two days. Dr. Hinman’s CRPS and “neuritis” diagnoses were short-lived in any event, and after objective MRI evidence, his diagnosis was reduced to ganglion cyst right wrist, and scar neuroma right elbow.  His response to Ms. Thoeni’s questions suggesting Claimant’s CRPS “most likely” originated from her work, and her “scar neuroma” originated from surgery for “treatment of the injury at work,” are accorded no weight, as they are based on the assumption Claimant had these conditions, none of which Dr. Vermilion ever diagnosed, assumed any surgery which may have caused these conditions was necessitated by a work injury, which it was not, and were based almost entirely on Claimant’s verbal history, rather than the medical record, and Claimant has been found to lack veracity.

Dr. Wilson’s contradictions and misnomers concerning the conditions under discussion: “chronic” regional pain syndrome, instead of the correct “complex” regional pain syndrome, and “sensory radial neuritis,” instead of the correct “radial sensory neuritis, known as RDS,” diminish confidence in his further statements and opinions concerning these conditions.  Dr. Wilson also expressed uncertainty as to whether Claimant had a neuroma, or if she had a neuritis.
  Noteworthy also is a contradiction in Dr. Wilson’s testimony with respect to CRPS. While opining Claimant suffered CRPS from a scar neuroma, he stated CRPS from a neuroma will never go away.
  He later noted Claimant’s CRPS did resolve and he saw no signs of it.
 

Finally, neither Dr. Wilson nor Dr. Vermillion explain how, if Claimant was indeed suffering unrelenting neuropathic pain since Dr. Kase’s and Dr. McNamara’s surgeries, she could have traveled from Alaska to Florida and back twice, traveled from Florida to Las Vegas and back, and then gone yachting to the Bahamas, seeking no medical care for complaints of arm pain from January, 2006 until August, 2006.  

Drs. Vermillion, Wilson and Ling all testified they relied on Claimant presenting herself validly, and relied on her reported history and pain complaints in formulating their opinions.  Because Claimant is an untruthful witness, little if any weight is accorded their opinions regarding diagnosis or causation.  While Drs. Vermillion, Wilson and Ling are all fine doctors in their fields and well-meaning, in this case, their opinions are no more reliable than the false or exaggerated information provided them by an untruthful reporter. Because the testimony of these physicians is accorded little or no weight, Claimant has failed to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence she ever suffered CRPS, scar neuroma or neuritis.  

And even if she were found to have experienced these symptoms or conditions, she has failed by a preponderance of the evidence to demonstrate her work for CESS was a substantial factor in causing any wrist or elbow condition, or aggravating, accelerating or combining with her pre-existing wrist and elbow conditions, to thereby necessitate the surgery, from which any CRPS, scar neuroma or neuritis would have derived.


6.
Was Claimant’s employment a substantial factor in causing Claimant to develop an

injury-related mood disorder? If so, when did she attain medical stability?

Employer concedes Claimant has met her burden of production and raised the presumption her employment was a substantial factor in causing her to develop an injury-related mood disorder.
  By substantial evidence Employer has rebutted the presumption through the February 20, 2006 EME report of Dr. S. David Glass, psychiatrist, who while noting at that time Claimant suffered a somatoform pain disorder, opined her psychiatric diagnosis was not caused, aggravated or accelerated by her work for CESS.  At the third stage of the presumption analysis, the burden of proof then shifts to Claimant.  

Claimant has failed to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence her work for CESS was a substantial factor in causing any psychiatric diagnosis.  That Claimant may have been suffering chronic pain in her right upper extremity, or has otherwise been perseverating over her interactions with the workers’ compensation system, and made herself emotionally sick or sicker in the process, would only be relevant were her work a substantial factor in causing, or in aggravating, accelerating or combining with a pre-existing condition to cause a need for medical care, or disability.   Where, as here, the preponderance of the evidence establishes the work caused only a transient exacerbation of Claimant’s pre-existing DQ tenosynovitis which resolved by September, 2003; and the work was not a substantial factor in causing Claimant’s reported right lateral epicondylitis in June, 2004; was not a substantial factor in causing Claimant’s reported right medial epicondylitis in July, 2005; was not a substantial factor in causing Claimant to develop a ganglion cyst; and was not a substantial factor in causing any CRPS, neuroma or neuritis; there is no legal basis for attributing any mood disorder Claimant may have developed as a result of any of these conditions, or as a result of surgeries she elected to treat any of these conditions, to her employment for CESS.

Even if Claimant’s DQ tenosynovitis and the surgery she sought in June, 2004, and again in 2005, or any of the panoply of diagnoses she received were related to her employment, the greater weight of evidence, and the more persuasive evidence is that Claimant’s work was not a substantial factor in causing any of her psychiatric problems.  

Treating physician Joella Beard was persuasive in her reporting and in her testimony.  In April 2005, she found Claimant’s presentation and complaints of pain inconsistent with her medical examination, believed Claimant needed psychological intervention, and referred her to psychologist Lois Michaud and psychiatric nurse practitioner Connie Judd.  Again, in December, 2005, Dr. Beard opined Claimant’s unreasonable request for a “handicapped” sticker excessive and unwarranted, suggestive of psychological overlay, and opined Claimant’s reports of pain were not a complex pain syndrome.  In January, 2006, Dr. Beard received and reviewed Claimant’s entire medical record.  She iterated her belief, based on the file as a whole, Claimant suffered depression, but did not believe it was exclusively related to Claimant’s claimed injury or medical condition.  Evidence in the file that Claimant was considering litigation against Dr. Kase suggested to Dr. Beard a secondary gain motivation on Claimant’s part.  Dr. Beard thereafter concurred with Drs. Fuller, Reimer and Glass, that Claimant’s pain complaints were unjustified by her physical condition, and were the result of a somatoform disorder, related to inherent psychological factors and not to her work.

Great weight is accorded the testimony and reporting of Dr. Glass, who participated in the EME physical examination, reviewed the medical record, and conducted an additional psychiatric interview and evaluation of Claimant.  Dr. Glass’ first diagnosed Claimant with a somatoform pain disorder caused by non-work psychosocial issues interacting with constitutional and developmental factors such as personality.  After viewing the video surveillance he modified his opinion, stating there were elements of both conscious and unconscious behavior in Claimant’s presentation of symptoms, the conscious embellishment: making herself appear more ill than she is to obtain some secondary gain, he termed malingering.  Dr. Glass opined Claimant’s conscious embellishment predominated.

Dr. Holladay, the psychiatrist examining Claimant for the SSA, noted Claimant’s reports of unrelenting pain, “stabbing, burning, or shooting…24/7.” Dr. Holladay diagnosed bipolar disorder, depressed type, provisional; and agoraphobia, probable.  He did not diagnose an injury-related mood disorder.  Rather, he noted a possible family history of bipolar disorder, as well as early childhood traumas and personality factors contributing to her psychiatric profile.  From his interview with Claimant, Dr. Ling corroborated and provided the detail underlying some of those childhood traumas.  

Claimant’s psychiatric nurse practitioner, Connie Judd, initially diagnosed Claimant with “adjustment disorder with depressed mood,” “insomnia secondary to adjustment disorder,” “nicotine dependence,” and “pain disorder with psychological factors and medical condition, provisional.”
  This was still Ms. Judd’s diagnosis in August, 2006, when Claimant returned from Florida.
  Ms. Judd’s chart notes thereafter reflect a lot of perseverating by Claimant on her treatment by the workers’ compensation system and harassment by the insurance company, including a “prehearing…[which] triggered a pain flare up.”
  By this time Ms. Judd’s diagnosis included dysthymia, as well as pain disorder with both psychological factors and general medical condition.  Ms. Judd at this time was prescribing Prozac for depression, Ambien for insomnia, and Ativan for anxiety.  By July 21, 2008, Ms. Judd theorized Claimant’s symptoms “may be better explained by a Mood or Bipolar Disorder, NOS,” though not dropping her diagnoses of pain disorder with both psychological factors and general medical condition.  Although references appear in some of Ms. Judd’s records suggesting Claimant’s reported pain was a result of her work, or surgeries undertaken for work injuries, these are based on patient reporting, and Ms. Judd has never made any independent assessment of the work-relatedness of any of Claimant’s reported pain.  Clear from Ms. Judd’s reporting, however, is the presence of psychiatric problems associated with psychological factors wholly unrelated to Claimant’s work.

Finally, Dr. Ling’s equivocal conclusion attributing a work-relatedness to Claimant’s psychiatric condition is unpersuasive:

Q:  Did the August 4, 2003 injury aggravate, accelerate, combine with a pre-existing condition to produce the need for medical treatment or the employee’s disability?

A:    Yes, I do believe that her disability is attributable to the activities of her employment and while she may have some symptoms pre-dating the assigned date of injury, her complaints appear to have arisen in the context of her work over time.  Therefore one has to accept that her work activities either caused or aggravated her symptoms.
  (italics added).

Evident from Dr. Ling’s written response is his assumption Claimant was reporting to him validly, and he had no choice but to “accept …her work activities either caused or aggravated her symptoms.”  Dr. Ling’s deposition testimony was no more persuasive.

7.
Has Claimant suffered a permanent partial impairment from any work-related condition?

Because Claimant has failed to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that her work for CESS was a substantial factor in causing right DQ tenosynovitis, right lateral epicondylitis, right medial epicondylitis, ganglion cyst, neuroma, CRPS, neuritis, or injury-related mood disorder; or aggravating, accelerating or combining with any pre-existing DQ conditions, other than a temporary aggravation of a pre-existing DQ tenosynovitis which resolved in September, 2003, she has suffered no permanent impairment as a result of her employment, Claimant is not entitled to any compensation for a permanent impairment.  

8.
What, if any, medical and transportation costs are due?

Because Claimant has failed to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that her work for CESS was a substantial factor in causing right DQ tenosynovitis, right lateral epicondylitis, right medial epicondylitis, ganglion cyst, neuroma, CRPS, neuritis, or injury-related mood disorder; or aggravating, accelerating or combining with any pre-existing conditions, other than a temporary aggravation of a pre-existing DQ tenosynovitis which resolved in September, 2003, she is entitled to no further medical and transportation costs.  

9.
What, if any, temporary total disability benefits are due?

Claimant’s WCC sought TTD from August 4, 2003 and continuing.  Her amended WCC sought it until January 26, 2009.  There is no legal basis for an award of TTD from August 4, 2003, the date Claimant was diagnosed with DQ tenosynovitis at Shemya Clinic.  She returned to work following her clinic visit, and worked until her next rotation off the island.  When she saw Dr. Kase on September 8, 2003, he ordered two weeks of physical therapy prescribed, but did not take her off work.
  She returned to Shemya and continued working for CESS until she resigned in April, 2004.  She suffered no demonstrable time loss from the temporary aggravation of her pre-existing DQ tenosynovitis, which resolved in September, 2003.  

She was then employed by Nye Toyota during May and June, 2004.  It was not until the DQ tenosynovitis surgery on July 5, 2004 that Dr. Kase took her off work.
  Claimant received TTD from July 5, 2004, the date of her first wrist surgery, through September 20, 2005, the date she attained medical stability following the second wrist surgery.  

Because Claimant has failed to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that her work for CESS was a substantial factor in causing right DQ tenosynovitis, right lateral epicondylitis, right medial epicondylitis, ganglion cyst, neuroma, CRPS, neuritis, or injury-related mood disorder; or aggravating, accelerating or combining with any pre-existing conditions, other than a temporary aggravation of a pre-existing DQ tenosynovitis which resolved in September, 2003, she is entitled to no further compensation for TTD.  

10.
Are penalties, interest and costs due?

As more fully described above, Claimant timely received all benefits to which she was entitled.  Accordingly, there is no basis for any award of penalties or interest.  The costs for which Claimant seeks an award were not incurred until December, 2006, and coincide with Claimant’s filing her WCC.  Because Claimant has not prevailed on her WCC, she is not entitled to an award of costs.

11.
Were any controversions issued unfairly or frivolously?

Employer filed two Controversion Notices on April 3, 2006, one controverting further medical and related benefits, TTD/TPD, and PPI, based on the report of the EME panel of Drs. Fuller, Reimer and Glass, stating Claimant sustained at most a transient injury which resolved long ago; the second controverting reemployment benefits after March 31, 2006, alleging Claimant had not cooperated within the meaning of AS 23.30.041(n), by failing to maintain contact with the rehabilitation specialist.

Claimant first filed a WCC on December 20, 2006, alleging “Swelling, tingling, cramping, decreased function of right arm, elbow, wrist, hand and fingers; injury-related chronic pain in right upper extremity; and injury-related mood disorder.”
  Her stated reason for filing was Employer’s controversion of TTD/TPD & PPI alleging medical stability; and its controversion of reemployment benefits, alleging failure to cooperate with the rehabilitation specialist.  Claimant requested TTD from August 4, 2003, ongoing, PPI, Medical Costs, Transportation, Review of Reemployment Benefits concerning Employee Cooperation, Penalty, Interest, Unfair or Frivolous Controversion, and Legal Costs.
  

On January 17, 2007, Employer filed another Controversion of Claimant’s “TTD, PPI, Unrelated and/or Unreasonable Medical and Transportation Costs, Penalty, Interest, Legal Costs, Reemployment Benefits and Unfair or Frivolous Controversion.”
  Employer contended Claimant had been appropriately paid TTD based on medical evidence documenting dates of disability and medical stability and that Claimant had not been considered disabled for work until July 5, 2004, following surgery and off work status from Dr. Kase.  The Controversion was further supported by the opinions of the IME panel and by Claimant’s physician, Dr. Beard, that any work injury sustained would have resolved by September 10, 2003.  Employer’s Controversion also stated Claimant’s subjective complaints had been inconsistent and she had presented falsely during several medical evaluations.
   Employer again reserved the right to recoup overpayment of compensation pursuant to AS 23.30.155(j) and averred Claimant had been and remained non-cooperative with the reemployment process.

Employer filed its Answer on January 18, 2007,
 admitting reasonable and necessary medical benefits and transportation costs related to the injury of August 4, 2003, but denying all other claims.  Among its affirmative defenses Employer stated it had appropriately paid TTD based on written medical evidence documenting dates of disability and medical stability; all benefits owed had been timely paid and actually overpaid (reserving the right to recoup overpayment pursuant to AS 23.30.155), and “employee has been and remains non-cooperative with the reemployment process, and has not otherwise requested a formal determination by the RBA regarding this.”
 

Employer again controverted Claimant’s .041(k) benefits on September 13, 2007. Specifically, Employer controverted Claimant’s stipend and/or bi-weekly PPI under AS 23.30.041(k), stating Claimant had unreasonably refused to cooperate with the assigned reemployment specialist to develop a reemployment plan.
 

Claimant filed a second WCC on February 13, 2009, claiming she had suffered a repetitive motion injury to her right hand, wrist, and elbow on or about August 3, 2003,
  and requested TTD from August 4, 2003, through January 23, 2009, PPI, Medical Costs, Transportation Costs, Review of Reemployment Benefit Decision regarding Eligibility, Penalty, Interest, Unfair or Frivolous Controversion, and Legal Costs.
   

Employer filed another Answer and Controversion on February 25, 2009, admitting Claimant was entitled to “reasonable and necessary medical benefits related to employee’s injury of 08/04/03,”
  but disputing TTD, PPI, Medical Benefits, Transportation Costs, Review of the RBA Non-Cooperation Determination, Legal Costs, Penalties, Interest, and Unfair or Frivolous Controversion, stating:
  

The employee was appropriately paid TTD based on the written medical evidence documenting dates of disability and medical stability.  The employee was not considered to be disabled for work until deemed so by Dr. Charles Kase on 07/05/04.  Per the opinions of the IME panel physicians and the employee’s former attending physician (Dr. Beard), any work injury sustained by the employee would have resolved by 09/10/03.  The employee’s subjective complaints have been inconsistent and she has presented falsely during several medical evaluations, therefore the employee may be malingering.

All benefits which may have been owed to the employee were timely paid, and the employee has been overpaid compensation.  The employer reserves the right to recoup the overpayment of compensation pursuant to AS 23.30.155(j). Employer is not aware of any recent actions by the RBA which might be reviewable by the Board.

Any and all controversions filed by the employer were well grounded in law and fact.
   

A valid controversion notice, timely filed, will protect an employer from imposition of a penalty for unfair or frivolous controversion.  Harp v. ARCO Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352, 358 (Alaska 1992).  As discussed supra, Employer’s controversions of TTD, PPI and medical benefits, were based upon the competent medical opinions of Drs. Fuller, Reimer and Glass, and of Dr. Beard.  Employer’s controversion of Claimant’s § .041(k) reemployment benefits was based on Claimant’s failure to keep in touch with the rehabilitation specialist assigned to develop the reemployment plan.  Claimant has offered no evidence to suggest she was conscientiously working with the rehabilitation specialist.  On the contrary, the only evidence on the issue demonstrates Claimant left the state in early April, 2006, travelling to Florida, Las Vegas and the Bahamas, and apparently made no efforts of any kind to keep in touch with the rehabilitation specialist or otherwise cooperate in the reemployment process.

Employer’s controversions were all valid and shield it from any penalties for unfair or frivolous controversion.  Moreover, as discussed supra, based on the record as whole, the preponderance of the evidence demonstrates Claimant was entitled to no further benefits after September, 2003, in any event.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
1.  
Claimant’s employment with CESS was not a substantial factor in either causing a DQ tenosynovitis, right wrist; or aggravating, accelerating or combining with a pre-existing DQ tenosynovitis, to cause other than a temporary aggravation of her pre-existing DQ tenosynovitis, which resolved in September, 2003. 

2.
Claimant’s employment with CESS was not a substantial factor in causing a need for medical care or disability for right lateral epicondylitis beyond February 6, 2003.  

3.
Claimant’s employment with CESS was not a substantial factor in causing right medial epicondylitis.  

4.
Claimant’s employment with CESS was not a substantial factor in causing Claimant to develop a ganglion cyst.

5. 
Claimant’s employment with CESS was not a substantial factor in causing CPRS, neuritis or neuroma.

6.
Claimant’s employment with CESS was not a substantial factor in causing Claimant to develop an injury-related mood disorder.

7.
Claimant has suffered no permanent impairment as a result of her employment, and is not entitled to any compensation for permanent impairment.  

8.
Claimant is entitled to no further medical and transportation costs. 

9.
Claimant suffered no demonstrable time loss from the transient episode of right lateral epicondylitis reported on February 6, 2003.  She suffered no demonstrable time loss from the temporary aggravation of her pre-existing DQ tenosynovitis, which resolved in September, 2003.  Claimant is not entitled to TTD.

10.
Claimant is not entitled to penalty, interest or costs.

11.
Claimant is not entitled to a penalty for unfair or frivolous controversion.

ORDER

1.
Claimant’s claim for TTD is DENIED.

2.
Claimant’s claim for medical and transportation costs is DENIED.

3.
Claimant’s claim for PPI is DENIED.

4.
Claimant’s claim for penalty for unfair and frivolous controversion is DENIED.

5.
Claimant’s claim for penalty and interest for late paid benefits, and for litigation costs, is DENIED.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this _____ day of December, 2009.






ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD






Linda M. Cerro, Designated Chairperson






Patricia Vollendorf, Member






Linda Hutchings, Member

If compensation is payable under the terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission.

If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.

APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128.

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.  The Board will, in its discretion, grant a rehearing to consider modification of an award only upon the grounds stated in AS 23.30.130.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of LINDA ROCKSTAD, Employee/Petitioner, v. CHUGACH EARECKSON SUPPORT SERVICES,  ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, Employer / Respondent; Case No. 200320305; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on December ___, 2009.





            Kimberly Weaver, Clerk
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� This matter has been before the Board for numerous procedural matters set out in eight prior decisions: AWCB Decision No. 09-0138 (August 7, 2009)(addressing Claimant’s petition alleging SIME irregularities); AWCB Decision No. 09-0016, (January 28, 2009)(addressing Claimant’s petition concerning production of insurance adjuster notes); AWCB Decision No. 08-0237 (December 3, 2008)(addressing Claimant’s petition for reconsideration of AWCB Decision No. 08-0208); AWCB Decision No. 08-0208 (November 6, 2008)(addressing Claimant’s petitions to strike EME reports from the SIME binder, and to certify Employer to the Superior Court for contempt; and Employer’s petition to exclude an incident report from the SIME binders), extraordinary review denied, AWCAC Decision No. 100, (February 20, 2009); AWCB Decision No. 08-0124 (July 1, 2008)(addressing Claimant’s petition appealing the Board Designee’s refusal to modify a prehearing conference summary, and request for modification); AWCB Decision No. 08-0075 (April 24, 2008)(addressing Claimant’s petition for an SIME); AWCB Decision No. 08-0038 (March 18, 2008) (addressing Employer’s request for appellate review of the Board Designee’s order granting Claimant a protective order for medical releases); AWCB Decision No. 08-0028 (February 22, 2008) (addressing Employer’s petition for modification of the RBA’s determination of eligibility for reemployment benefits, and Claimant’s petitions to exclude surveillance videos from the SIME binder, for an SIME, requesting exclusion from the record of EME reports and of a medical record from Shemya Clinic). 


� “Smallwood objection” is an objection to the introduction into evidence of written medical reports in place of direct testimony by a medical provider. 8 AAC 45.900(11).  Unless the party offering a medical record as evidence has provided an opportunity for the party objecting to that evidence to cross-examine the document’s author, the document is inadmissible unless it would be admissible over objection in a civil action by virtue of one of the Rules of Evidence, or an exception thereto. See Commercial Union Insurance Co. v. Smallwood, 550 P.2d 1261 (Alaska 1976). 


� Issuance of this decision has been delayed by the assignment to Hearing Officers of work previously performed by Workers’ Compensation Officers.  See Alaska Workers’ Compensation Division Bulletin No. 09-10 (June 12, 2009); Alaska Worker’s Compensation Division Bulletin No. 09-11 (July 12, 2009). 


� Employer’s Hearing Brief at 1.


� Valley Hospital Physical Therapy Initial Evaluation, 2/16/99.


� 4/15/99 Chart Note, Dr. Kase.


� 4/22/99 Closing and Rating Examination, Dr. Kase.


� 1/28/99 Chart Note, Dr. Kase.


� 2/17/99 Chart Note, Valley Hospital Rehabilitation Services Dept.


� 2/7/00 Chart Note, Dr. Kase.


� Evaluation Report, Shawn Hadley, MD, June 29, 1999.


� AS 23.30.001 et seq.


� 2/6/03 Chart Note, Shemya Clinic, Jean Luck, PA-C.


� 2/6/03 Handwritten Chart Note with 2/7/03 Note, Jean Luck, PA-C.


� 5/27/03, Chart Note, Shemya Clinic, the provider was an ANP-C, but the name of the provider is indecipherable.


� 8/4/03 Chart Note, Shemya Clinic, D. Campbell, ANP.  On August 7, 2003, Ms. Campbell recorded she faxed the 8/4/03 chart note to Ward North, “for further evaluation for worker’s comp.”  See 8/7/03 chart note. 


� 8/4/03 Chart Note, Shemya Clinic, D. Campbell, ANP.


� 8/9/03 Chart Note, Shemya Clinic, D. Campbell, ANP.


� 9/10/03, 9/12/03, 9/15/03 Valley Hospital Association, Inc., Occupational Therapy Chart Notes, Shain Zumbrunnen, Occupational Therapist.


� Sharry Christianson Deposition at 12.


� Mary McCully Deposition.


� Linda Rockstad Deposition, December 14, 2006 at 19.


� Mary McCully Deposition at 9, 12, 14, 16.


� Linda Rockstad Deposition, December 14, 2006 at 19.


� Linda Rockstad Deposition,  December 14, 2006 at 20.


� 7/5/04 Chart Note, Dr. Kase.


� 7/13/04 Operative Report, Dr. Kase.


� 8/10/04 Chart Note, Dr. Kase.


� 9/1/04 Chart Note, Dr. Kase.


� Bowstringing of the dorsal wrist compartment tendons occurs after the compartment has been released.  See 2/5/05 Chart Note, Dr. Siegfried and 10/30/07 Deposition of Dr. Siegfried.


� 9/30/04 Chart Note, Dr. Kase.


� 10/28/04 Chart Note, Dr. Kase.


� Deposition of Dr. Kase at 28.


� Dr. Siegfried Deposition at 14.


� 2/2/05 Chart Note, Dr. Siegfried.


� Dr. Siegfried Deposition at 13-15, 17.


� Id. at 16.


� 2/21/05 Chart Note, Robert Thomas, PA-C.


� 3/3/05, 3/8/05, 3/10/05, 3/15/05, 3/17/05, 3/22/05, 3/24/05, 3/31/05 Treatment Notes, Health Quest, Therapy, Inc.


� 4/4/05 Chart Note, Robert Thomas, PA-C.


� Dr. McNamara deposition at 17-20, 22.


� Id. at 18-19.


� 4/21/05 Chart Note and 5/11/05 Operative Report, Dr. McNamara.


� 4/27/05 Chart Note, Advanced Sports Medicine & Rehabilitation, Dr. Joella Beard.


� Deposition of Dr. Beard at 17.


� Id. at 19.


� 4/27/05 Chart Note, Advanced Sports Medicine & Rehabilitation, Dr. Joella Beard.


� 5/11/05 Order for Occupational/Physical/Hand Therapy, Dr. McNamara.  See also 5/13/05, 5/16/05, 5/18/05, 5/24/05, 5/26/05, 5/31/05, 6/2/05 Treatment Notes, Health Quest Therapy, Inc.


� 6/9/05 Chart Note, Robert Thomas, PA-C.


� 6/27/05 Chart Note, Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska, Connie Judd, ANP-C.


� 6/27/05 Advanced Health Psychology Psychiatric Evaluation Summary, Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska, Connie Judd, BC, MS, RN, ANP, Psychiatric Nurse Practitioner, Board Certified Clinical Specialist.


� 6/29/05 Chart Note, Dr. Prieto.


� 6/9/05 Progress Note, Advanced Health Psychology, Lois Michaud, Ph.D.; 8/10/05, 8/18/05, 9/1/05 Progress Notes, Advanced Health Psychology, Lois Michaud, Ph.D.


� 6/14/05, 6/16/05, 6/21/05, 6/28/05, 6/30/05, 7/6/05, 7/8/05, 7/12/05, 7/14/05, 7/22/05, 7/26/05, 7/28/05, 8/4/05, 8/9/05, Treatment Notes, Health Quest, Therapy, Inc.


� 7/5/05 Chart Note, Dr. McNamara.


� 7/6/05, 7/8/05, 7/12/05, 7/14/05, 7/22/05, 7/26/05, 7/28/05, 8/4/05, 8/9/05 Treatment Notes, Health Quest Therapy.


� 8/9/05 Chart Note, Robert Thomas, PA-C.  See also 8/11/05, 8/16/05, 8/18/05, 8/23/05, 8/25/05, 8/30/05, 9/2/05, 9/6/05, 9/8/05 Treatment Notes, Health Quest Therapy.


� 9/19/05 Progress Note, Advanced Health Psychology, Connie Judd, ANP.


� 9/20/05 Chart Note, Robert Thomas, PA-C.


� 9/22/05 Treatment Note, Health Quest Therapy.


� 9/28/05 Physical Work Performance Evaluation Summary, Advanced Physical Therapy of Alaska, Chad Ross, DPT, CSCS, at 1.


� Id., at 1 and 2.


� Id., at 5.


� 9/28/05 Permanent Partial Impairment Rating, Advanced Sports Medicine and Rehab, Dr. Prieto.


� Id. at 47-48.


� Dr. Prieto deposition at 25, 28.


� Id. at 21.


� Id. at 20-21.


� Id. at 41.


� Id. at 41-42.


� 10/20/05 Chart Note, Dr. McNamara.


� 10/27/05 Progress Note, Advanced Health Psychology, Lois Michaud, Ph.D.


� Deposition of William May at 5, 25.


� 11/2/05 Letter to Linda Rockstad from Dr. McNamara.


� Dr. McNamara deposition at 48.


� 11/9/05 Letter to Linda Rockstad from Dr. Prieto.


� 12/15/05 Plan of Care, Rehabilitation & Sports Medicine, Dr. Beard.


� 12/15/05 Rehabilitation & Sports Medicine, Dr. Beard, at 2.


� Id.


� Id .


� Id.


� 1/4/06 Consultation Report, Dr. Polston.


� 1/5/06,  Evaluation Report, Dr. Beard.


� The U.S. Department of Labor’s Selected Characteristics of  Occupations  Defined in the Revised Dictionary of Occupational Titles.


� 1/5/06 Response to questions regarding PPI, and DOT/SCODOT Job Descriptions, Dr. Beard.


� 1/5/06 Job Description Review, Dr. Beard, at 1.


� 1/16/06 Progress Note, Advanced Health Psychology, Connie Judd, ANP.


� 1/18/06 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska, Dr. Polston.


� 1/19/06 Progress Note, Advanced Health Psychology, Lois Michaud, Ph.D.


� Dr. Beard deposition at 22.


� Employer’s Medical Evaluation (“EME”) pursuant to AS 23.30.095.


� 2/20/06 EME Report, Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer, at 20.


� Id. at 22.


� Id.


� Id.


�Id. Dr. Fuller did not have the February 6, 2003 Shemya Clinic chart note at this time reflecting Claimant’s complaint of right elbow pain from lifting dishes off of the conveyor belt when employed with CESS’ food service division.


� Id. This was a similar observation to that of Dr. Hadley in 1999, following Claimant’s left DQ surgery, where Dr. Hadley found Claimant reported activities inconsistent with the prominent calluses on her hands.





� Id. at 23; Claimant is not making a claim for carpal tunnel syndrome.  The August 4, 2003 chart note indicates this condition too was pre-existing.  Claimant later accused Dr. Kase of performing the “incorrect surgery,” and was considering a malpractice action.  In his deposition Dr. Kase pointed out the informed consent for the surgery he performed authorized other procedures he believed necessary during surgery.


� Ultimately, Dr. McNamara’s office, through PA-C Thomas, did not determine Claimant’s wrist and elbow conditions were medically stable until September 20, 2005.


�  Id.


� Id.


� Id., at 26.


� Id.


� Dr. Reimer Deposition at 7.


� 2/20/06 EME Report, Dr. Glass, at 9.


� 08/15/08 Letter to Mr. Bredesen from S. David Glass, M.D.


� Id., at 10.


� Id.


� Id., at 11.


� Id., at 12.


� Id., at 13.


� Id., at 14.


� Dr. Stephen Fuller, Supplemental EME Report, April 23, 2008 at 54-55.


� Id.  at 57.


� Dr. S. David Glass, Supplemental EME Report, May 22, 2008 at 5-6.


� Linda Rockstad Deposition at 79.


� 4/7/06 Dr. Beard’s responses to questions posed by Sherrie Riggs, Ward North America, at 1-2.


� Id., at 2.


� Id.


� Id., at 3.


� 5/10/06 Chart Note, Garden Urgent Care.


� 5/11/06 Operative Note, St. Mary’s Medical Center.
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